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Chair of Board  
of Trustees Report

The Meath Epilepsy Charity has been in existence for 127 years. It fulfils a 
critical service in addressing the residential needs of adults living with complex 
epilepsy and associated disabilities.  Whilst assistance is given by social services 
through care packages this is increasingly being subject to cuts and restrictions.  
In addition to the exceptional care we provide, we endeavour to improve the 
quality of life by providing numerous interests and activities, both educational 
and therapeutic for the people we support.

The Meath is, therefore, having to depend on the broader community for 
financial support.  It costs approximately £6.5m per annum or £17k per day to 
keep The Meath operational. The care packages income is £5.5m.  2018/19 was 
a challenging year financially but thanks to the general support of our donors, 
the efforts of our fundraising team, and the steps we have taken to increase our 
sustainable income, we saw a positive impact on our funding gap.  However, we 
have a long way to go. The key to this is finding ways to increase our support 
and income. The organisation is under financial strain as are many due to the 
continued freeze in fees paid by many of the local authorities. As the pressure on 
families is increasing, we see it as part of our strategic remit to not only provide a 
quality specialist care home, but also to provide advice and support on  
broader issues.

There are, at the time of writing, 80 residents at The Meath 
with 42 potential residents on our waiting list.  Despite the 
many challenges, I am delighted that we are in the process 
of building provision for 3 extra residents to have homes 
at The Meath in the summer of 2019.  Our Fundraising & 
Marketing team raised a record breaking amount in 2018-
19, £398k of which was used to fund this valuable new 
building project.  

The Meath continues to enjoy support from so many people 
including The Lord-Lieutenant of Surrey, Michael More-
Molyneux and the past High Sheriff of Surrey Jim Glover OBE, 
who was a firm supporter.  We are particularly grateful to the 
Lord-Lieutenant and his wife Sarah for hosting a lunch party 
for every town and borough Mayor in Surrey to support 
International Epilepsy Awareness Day and our Purple Day 
2019 Campaign.

Mark Dumas
Chair of Trustees



I would like to thank all of our many supporters, whether you have made a one-off 
donation, taken part in an event, nominated us as your company’s charity of the 
year, or left a gift in your will: with a shortfall of income coming from the Government 
you have made a difference to the the people we support and their families.  

It is with such collective generosity and kindness that we can enhance the 
experiences of all those for whom we care in such unique surroundings, 
ensuring that they enjoy the same opportunities as their peers.

Trustee and Chair of Finance Committee, Charles Orange, retired during the last 
financial year.  Charles was a Trustee for over 18 years and I should like to thank 
him for his enthusiasm, guidance, and support of The Meath over the years.   In 
January 2019 we were pleased to welcome onto The Meath Board Graham Healy 
as Trustee and Chair of Finance.

I would like to thank our Patrons, Trustees, Volunteers, and Supporters, and of 
course, Lindsay Hill our Chief Executive, her Senior Management Team, and all 
the staff at The Meath for all their hard work and support over the last year.  

None of us know what the next year will bring but we are confident and ready 
to face the challenges and celebrate successes. I am proud to be Chair of 
Trustees of a charity that ensures that we always recognise ability not disability, 
and where every success is celebrated. With your help the year ahead promises 
to be just as impactful.

Mark Dumas
Chair of Trustees

Charles Orange
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Chief Executive  
Report

We can genuinely say that the Meath recognises ability not  
disability, and that every achievement is recognised no matter how small  
or large and celebrated.  This is one of the things I am most proud of.

We work hard to ensure that the people we support are not excluded and are 
empowered to learn, develop, have fun and try new opportunities.   
We constantly strive to ensure that all our residents are happy, included and 
fulfilled, and that their families feel supported.  

I am also extremely  proud of the staff.  They are fundamental to the service 
provided at The Meath and are the people who “make the difference”!  In the 
current challenging financial climate, The Meath has continued to monitor 
its operating costs and to make cost effective adjustments where it has been 
deemed necessary.

During the last financial year there have been further changes to the senior 
management structure. With robust leadership now in place, a continual 
financial review and restructure is taking place across the whole business to 
ensure long term stability for the charity.  We have an extremely experienced 
Registered Manager in place and have created a new role, Head of Residential 
& Commercial.  The Senior Management Team has been streamlined for best 
effect across the business.

Another challenge for 2018 along with most others in the care industry was the 
recruitment of support workers.  We made the decision to work in partnership 
with a respected recruitment specialist and they successfully filled 18 positions.   

5
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This has been a challenging year and there have been 
many hot topics to deal with such as the delivery of  
GDPR in all areas of the business.  Governance of 
charities is still a much talked about subject and it has 
kept the management team and Trustees fully engaged.  
Our fundraising team have had an excellent year.  
This is important because charities are facing increasing 
financial uncertainty as statutory income falls and 
becomes less predictable.

We had a CQC inspection in February and we are 
proactively using the feedback given to build and 
develop our service delivery.  We were delighted with 
the testimonials made by the people we support and 
their families.

Along with the challenges there were many highlights 
and a personal one for me was The Annual Awards 
Ceremony held in January to celebrate the many varying 
successes of the people that we support, in front of 
their families followed by an After Party.  At The Meath 
we recognize ability not disability and every success is 
celebrated, never was this more clearly demonstrated 
than at the Awards Ceremony.  The cost of the Annual 
Awards was funded by our new fundraising initiative,  
The Life Enrichment Fund.

The Annual Carols at St Clement Danes was a joy, and 
we were honoured to enjoy the company of The Lord-
Lieutenant of Surrey, Michael More-Molyneux, The 
High Sheriff of Surrey, Jim Glover OBE, the Mayor of 
Surrey Heath, Dan Adams, and the Mayor of Waverley, 
Denise  Le Gal.  The Meath Choir, ably supported by the 
Guildford and Godalming Jazz Choir, performed superbly 
enchanting the congregation and resident Amy was over 
the moon that her father, global opera Bass,  Brindley 
Sherratt sang for The Meath at the Carols.  We were also 
honoured to have top Tenor Stephen Petch perform.

Another new initiative was The Meath Summer Drinks 
Reception kindly hosted by Michael More-Molyneux.   
This was a wonderful opportunity to thank historic 
supporters and engage potential new ones.   
200 people gathered at Loseley Park and it was an 
extremely successful evening.  The new Meath films 
playing gave an insight into life at The Meath.  
HM Lord Lieutenant of Surrey, Michael More-Molyneux, 
and Chair of Trustees both spoke eloquently about  
The Meath and why they support it.

The people we support continue to benefit from living 
at The Meath and are provided with very comfortable 
accommodation in a beautiful and characterful estate 
of 10 acres. It gives them a chance to have a very high 
quality of life with a devoted and caring team of staff 
who encourage development of skills and confidence. 
This is so often a life changing experience for residents. 
Life enhancing services include Meath Ability, the Skills 
Centre, including Changing Perceptions, Backstage, the 
Gym, Pottery, Art and Touch Screen.  There is a wide 
variety of choice of activities every day as well as many 
trips and outings.  



To continue to improve services and facilities, The Meath 
is driven towards looking for ways to diversify its income 
by continuing to invest in its Fundraising Department 
which will bear fruit in following financial years and 
ensure the charity’s stability. We are proud that over 80 
pence in every pound directly benefits our residents.

Two new initiatives by the Fundraising Department in 
2018, The Wish List and Life Enrichment Funds, have 
enabled us to provide equipment and opportunities for 
our residents and we are grateful to everyone who has 
supported these new initiatives.  There is more detail in 
the Fundraising Report.

The increase in volunteers and supporters has enabled 
us to build upon and increase the range of activities we 
provide, and has significantly enhanced our community 
presence and participation. The excellent volunteer 
force of around 180 at The Meath and their sterling 
efforts would have had an estimated benefit of over 
£265,000 per annum.  Thank you is never enough but 
we do enjoy the Annual Volunteers Thank You party in 
Volunteers Week.  We say thank you a lot of the time to 
a lot of people and organisations and we know we could 
not deliver what we do without their support.  Their 
input will become even more important as we focus 
our efforts to ensure that the charity has a long-term 
sustainable future. 

Our Fundraising & Marketing Department works tirelessly 
to not only raise much needed funds for The Meath but 
also to raise awareness of both The Meath and the fact 
that 1:100 people have Epilepsy.  The inaugural 2019 
Purple Day Campaign celebrating International Epilepsy 
Awareness Day was a triumph and you will read more 
about this later in the report. 

The Patrons, and Board of Trustees are a great support 
and I, together with my staff teams, all face the 
forthcoming year with enthusiasm and vigor.  

Lindsay Hill 
Chief Executive

83 Pence
In EVERY Pound

directly benefits the 
people we support
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Finance - The Facts

In 2018/19 how The Meath used its money

Administration and Overheads £379,014 6%

Depreciation £416,214 6%

Fundraising £141,028 2%

Marketing £125,376 2%

Direct Expenditure to benefit residents £5,571,051 84%

The Meath’s Direct Expenditure on activities in 2018/19

Supported Living £184,435 3%

Daytime Activities £891,856 16%

Health Therapy £72,066 1%

Residential £4,422,694 80%

The Meath’s Income Sources in 2018/19 (£)

Fundraised Income £712,464 11%

Session Fees £45,238 1%

Other Trading Activities £168,730 2%

Investments £90,283 1%

Local Authorities £5,767,104 85%
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The Board of Trustees

Charity Trustees play a very important role 
in making sure that the charity is run in the 
interests of the people it is there to support. 
They strategically oversee the management and 
administration of the organisation.

Trustees ensure their charity has a clear strategy, and 
that its work and goals are in line with its vision. Trustees’ 
role in a charity is to be the ‘guardians of purpose’, 
making sure that all decisions put the needs of the 
beneficiaries first. They safeguard the charity’s assets – 
both physical including property, and intangible, such as 
its reputation. They make sure these are used well and 
that the charity is run sustainably. 

Trustees don’t usually get involved with the day-to-day 
running of the charity. They delegate this to the staff, 
led by the Chief Executive. Instead, they play the role of 
‘critical friend’ to the Chief Executive by giving support 
and by challenging – in a supportive way – to help them 
manage effectively. However, in smaller charities with  
few staff, Trustees may take hands-on roles too.

Most Trustee boards meet four to eight times a year. 
Many boards have subcommittees that focus on 
particular areas of work or projects. Where they do, 
Trustees are often expected to get involved with one 
or more subcommittees, as well as having a good 
understanding of their charity’s work overall.

Each new Trustee is appointed for an initial term of five 
years and may then be re-elected for further periods 
of three years.  The Chairman is appointed at the first 
meeting in each year until the following year. 

The Trustees confirm that they have complied with the 
duty in Section 4 of the Charities Act 2011 to have due 
regard to the Charity Commission’s general guidance on 
public benefit.

Principal address 
Westbrook Road 
Godalming
Surrey GU7 2QH

Contact details
Telephone: 01483 415095
Email: info@meath.org.uk
Web: www.meath.org.uk

The Trustees enjoy Afternoon Tea chatting to the Residents in Thursley House
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Board and Committee 
Membership

Board of Trustees
Chaired by Mark Dumas

Trustees: Tim Bloomfield, Anna Coss, Robin Gourlay, Graham Healy, Mady Henderson,  
Dr. Jonathan Moore, Malcolm Ring, Tony Röbin, Jane Wybrew

Finance & Risk  
Committee
Chaired by  

Graham Healy
Supported by  

Mark Dumas &  
Robin Gourlay
Attended by  

Lindsay Hill &  
Dan Remedios

Social Enterprises 
Committee
Chaired by  

Jane Wybrew
Supported by  
Robin Gourlay
Attended by  

Lindsay Hill & Jo Axton
(TORs are currently 

under review)

Fundraising  
Committee
Chaired by  
Tony Röbin

Supported by  
Mark Dumas &  

Mady Henderson
Attended by  

Lindsay Hill &  
Tania Cantoni

Property & Estates 
Committee
Chaired by  

Tim Bloomfield
Supported by  
Mark Dumas,  

Robin Gourlay &  
Malcolm Ring
Attended by  

Lindsay Hill, Garry Hill 
& Dan Remedios

Health & Social Care 
Committee
Chaired by  
Anna Coss

Supported by  
Mark Dumas,   

Dr. Jonathan Moore & 
Jane Wybrew
Attended by  

Lindsay Hill, Jo Axton, 
Tracy Toth, Kay Armour 

& Garry Hill

Remuneration & Nominations Committee
Chaired by Mark Dumas

Supported by Robin Gourlay, 
Attended by Lindsay Hill

Westbrook Housing
Chaired by Tim Bloomfield
Supported by Malcolm Ring, 

Attended by Barbara Stokes, Ian Clap,  
Dan Remedios & Lindsay Hill
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Mark Dumas (Chair) - Mark worked for twenty years for E.D. & F. Man holding 
various executive roles. He was a Trustee of The Parkinson’s Disease Society for 
eight years and Chairman for five years. He is on the Supervisory Board of Dom 
Development SA, a publicly quoted house builder on the Polish Stock Exchange. 
Mark was a Trustee of the Royal Humane Society and worked for many years as 
an adviser at the Citizens Advice Bureau. He is a member of the Charity’s Finance 
and Risk, Property and Developments, and Fundraising Committees.

Tim Bloomfield - Tim has over forty years’ experience as a Chartered Surveyor, 
acting as an agent, developer and arbitrator. He is a Trustee of a local Charity. 
He is also a member of the Charity’s Property and Developments and Changing 
Perceptions subcommittees within the charity.

The Trustees

It may surprise you to know that, each day, eighty five more people are diagnosed with Epilepsy 
across the country.  Many people’s Epilepsy will be so severe that medication alone will not 
control it.  The residents at The Meath require twenty-four hour care in order for them to live 
safe, happy and fulfilled lives.  Our services at The Meath are making a tremendous difference 
day to day for the people living with severe epilepsy and associated disabilities that we currently 
support.  I am in The Meath regularly and when you see the residents laughing, smiling and 
fulfilled, you know that this is a wonderful charity to be involved with.

I am particularly proud of the small contribution I was able to make to the birth and growth of our 
two Social Enterprises, Changing Perceptions and Arthouse Meath  (the latter now a charity in its 
own right called ARTHOUSE Unlimited] and the improvement in our residential facilities of Bradbury 
Wing and Bradbury House. I remain awestruck by the dedication and hard work of the staff, and the 
determination of our residents and other clients to live life to the full in spite of their disability.
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Robin Gourlay - Robin spent 35 years as an Executive for the BP Group.  
Between 1995 and 2003, he was Chairman of Anglian Water PLC and the 
Rugby Group PLC.  He is also a member of the Charity’s Finance and Risk and 
Changing Perceptions subcommittees.  Robin was Chair of Trustees at  
The Meath for over ten years.

Madeline Henderson - Mady is currently a Fundraising Consultant at the 
National Trust, having previously spent 14 years working with charities 
supporting disabled children and young people across a number of roles,  
most recently Head of Communications.  Mady sits on the Fundraising  
subcommittee, her specialism is Major Donor fundraising.

Graham Healy - Graham is a Chartered Accountant, who retired in 2015 as a 
partner of Smith & Williamson in Guildford, after more than 30 years. He has 
over 20 years’ experience as a Trustee of various Surrey based charities, and is 
also involved with several local charities in Wonersh, where he has lived since 
1992.  Graham joined the Board in January 2019.

I was initially attracted by the fact that for over a century The Meath has been at the forefront 
of best practice regarding the support it provides for its residents, and I wished to contribute 
towards maintaining this record. I want to continue as a Trustee in support of the Management 
when it faces the unprecedented challenge of being a leader in its field, whilst receiving 
diminishing financial support from Local Authorities.

As a relatively new Trustee, I am still on a steep learning curve, but my immediate impression is 
of a motivated organisation that cares deeply about the welfare and happiness of its residents.

From the moment I first visited The Meath I knew I wanted to support the fantastic work there, 
so I’m delighted to be able to draw on my professional skills to volunteer as a trustee. It’s a very 
special place with a brilliant team so I feel very privileged to be involved.

As a Godalming resident of many years, the change of The Meath over the past decade from a 
a kindly but very old fashioned inward looking institution, to the vibrant, noisy life enhancing 
outward facing and still caring place it is today, is a joy. As a Trustee I am proud to have contributed 
to this transformation.

Anna Coss - Anna was Head of Strategic Commissioning and Performance 
Development for Adult Services at West Sussex County Council and chaired their 
Safeguarding Board until she retired in March 2009.  She is a qualified social worker 
with a strong interest in listening to and promoting the views of people supported 
by the Charity and their carers.  Anna is a trustee at The Grange in Bookham, Surrey.  
She is also a member of the Charity’s Health and Social Care subcommittee and is a 
director of Arthouse Meath Ltd, a subsidiary company of the charity.
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Jonathan Moore - Qualified as a Doctor in 1978 and for seven years served in the 
regular army as a regimental medical officer. He then transferred to the TA and 
commanded a Regimental Medical Officer Field Ambulance in Kingston upon 
Thames and later acting as Staff Officer in a divisional HQ. He was been a NHS GP 
for 32 years and Senior Partner for a practice in NE Hampshire. During that time, 
he had sole medical responsibility for a 120 bedded residential nursing home.  
He retired from practice in March 2017.

Malcolm Ring - Malcolm was a solicitor, having been a partner with Taylor 
Wessing LLP in London for more than thirty years. He completed 21 years 
service with the Territorial Army, serving as a Commanding Officer, and then 
as Regimental Colonel of the Honourable Artillery Company between 1986 and 
1990. He has had twenty years experience as a Trustee of various charities and 
his daughter is a resident at The Meath. He is also a member of the Charity’s 
Property and Developments subcommittee.

Tony Röbin - Tony worked for over 35 years as an Institutional Stockbroker, 18 
of which were on the floor of the London Stock Exchange. He was a Director of 
Hoare Govett for his last 15 years. In retirement he has been a Trustee of the 
charity CHANCE for Nepal. He has two children and lives locally.
 

Jane Wybrew - Jane trained as a nurse and worked as a Health Advisor and Aids 
counsellor. She serves as a Magistrate in the Adult and Youth Courts and is a 
member of the Charity’s Health and Social Care subcommittee.

I elected to become a Trustee of The Meath as I am so impressed by all I have seen that the 
organisation does to help provide a home for many with severe Epilepsy.  I felt that as a retired 
GP I could contribute through my understanding of epilepsy and social care.

I joined the Board in 2017 and am delighted to be the first Chair of the Fundraising subcommittee. 
I really enjoy working with the Fundraising & Marketing team and feel that I am playing a practical 
part in making a difference to the charity that I care about and choose to support.

I chose to be a Trustee and support The Meath because it is a life enhancing home for the 
residents and I was inspired to be a part of this.  I wanted to support and contribute to making a 
difference to the lives of the staff and residents by using my nursing background and counselling 
experience. I am proud to be a Trustee and enjoy working with the diverse group on the Board 
towards constant improvement for all the residents.

The Meath is a community that’s full of very special people including my daughter; the people  
we support, our wonderful volunteers and dedicated staff team all work together to make  
The Meath such a positive place.



Patrons

The Baroness Parminter

Richard Lockwood Lesley Lockwood

The Rt. Hon.  
Jeremy Hunt MP

Dr Colin Stokes 
MBE

HM Lord-Lieutenant  
of Surrey,  

Michael More-Molyneux

John Jeffrey  
MBE

What is a patron? Patrons are generally not members of the organisation.  
A Patron tends to be someone who agrees to lend their name to your 
organisation as a way of supporting you, usually because they are well-known 
and able to get media coverage for your organisation and/or bring in donations.
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Chief Executive & Senior 
Management Team

Chief Executive                                                                         
Lindsay Hill      

Lindsay was Executive Director at The Meath before being appointed Chief 
Executive in August 2017. She qualified as a nurse for people with learning 
disabilities in the 1990’s and in 2019 celebrates working successfully in this field 
for 30 years.

Having worked in many care sectors: not for profit, private, the NHS and Social 
Services, Lindsay has the insight, strength of knowledge and skills to be able to 
further lead The Meath Epilepsy Charity to flourish and thrive while maintaining 
the needs of the people we support at the forefront of all progress. 

Lindsay has also been on both sides of the regulatory fence as a Registered 
Manager for two charities and a Regulatory Inspector for a Local Authority,  
the National Care Standards Commission and Care Quality Commission.  

Head of Operations & HR
Jo Axton

Jo has worked in the social care sector for 20 years working her way up from 
Support Worker to Managing Director of a Care Consultation Company.

Jo has a background of working with children with learning difficulties, mental 
health, Autism and complex needs including Epilepsy.

Throughout Jo’s years of working in the industry she has successfully changed 
services from closure to become compliant in CQC in all areas and has made 
them more financially viable.

Jo is driven in her role by the people we support and aims at all times to get the 
best out of the Care Teams in order to ensure that the residents receive the 
very best care, encouragement and support we can offer.
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Head of Fundraising & Marketing 
Tania Cantoni MinstF

Senior Ladieswear Buyer for Marks and Spencer for eighteen years but has spent 
the last fifteen years working in fundraising and marketing.

Fundraised and project managed two capital projects at St Peter’s Catholic 
School in Guildford, namely a £5m Sixth Form Centre and £3m Theatre.

Then moved into the charity sector as Head of Fundraising & Marketing for a 
charity supporting children and young people with disabilities achieving record 
breaking income, as well as successfully fundraising and project managing an 
appeal for a new sensory suite for the charity.

Currently responsible for the cross curricular running of the fundraising and 
marketing functions at The Meath Epilepsy Charity, leading the team forward at 
a time of exciting development and growth for the charity.

Head of Finance 
Dan Remedios

Has worked in financial management since 1998 including charities such as 
Watford Mencap, International Alert and CAFOD.

As the Finance Manager Dan is responsible for managing the Finance Team, 
financial strategy, improving financial systems and processes and ensuring that 
financial good practice is maintained at The Meath.

He enjoys helping charities to the benefit of their clients and other 
stakeholders, and has much experience in financial management, and business 
services.  He hopes to help The Meath to continue to strive to maximise the use 
of its resources.

Auditors
Crowe U.K. LLP
St Bride’s House
10 Salisbury Square
London
EC4Y 8EH

Bankers
Lloyds Bank Plc
49 High Street
Godalming Surrey
GU7 1AT

Investment Advisor
JM Finn & Co
4 Coleman Street
London
EC2R 5TA
 

The charity (Registered Charity Number 200359) is a company limited by guarantee 
and governed by the Memorandum and Articles of Association.



Structure, Governance  
and Management 

History
The Meath’s beautiful site has a long and interesting history. It was home, 
in the C17th, to General James Oglethorpe, an army man with a great 
humanitarian vision, who sailed to America in 1732 to found the state of 
Georgia as a place where the ‘worthy poor’ could ‘remake their lives’. The site 
was purchased in 1892 by a further philanthropist, Mary, Countess of Meath,  
to be converted into a caring home for women and girls affected by epilepsy 
and was subsequently donated to the Trust for that purpose. Nowadays,  
The Meath no longer admits children, but offers modern housing and support 
services to both women and men from this remarkable building.      
(Picture is Lady Meath)

Governance
The Charity is controlled by its governing document, 
a deed of trust, and constitutes an unincorporated 
charity.  This was founded under the name “The Meath 
Home for Epileptic Women and Girls” in a Conveyance 
and Declaration of Trust dated 28th October 1896.  

The Meath Trustee Company Limited  
Registered Company number: 5822835
The Meath Trustee Company Limited was incorporated 
on the 19th May 2006 and is the Trustee of The Meath 
Epilepsy Charity.   

Epilepsy is covered by the Equality Act in England, 
Scotland and Wales, and the Disability Discrimination 
Act in Northern Ireland.

Our Charitable Objects
To support, care for and protect the physical and 
mental health of people living with severe epilepsy and 
associated learning and physical disabilities through the 
provision of suitable accommodation, tailored assistance, 
skills training, and leisure and sports activities. 

In pursuance of these objects, the Charity undertakes 
the principal activity of providing a range of residential 
care options for individuals living with severe epilepsy 
and associated disabilities, as well as offering tailored 
support services and training.

Our Vision
The Meath Epilepsy Charity supports people living 
with complex epilepsy, many of whom have additional 
associated learning and/or physical disabilities. We 
respect everyone as individuals, encouraging each to 
enjoy life at The Meath and to play a full and active role 
in the local community.  

In 2019 we are revisiting our vision and value base to 
create an inclusive community-based set of principles 
which reaches from residents to the Board.
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Why We Exist 

A brief definition of Epilepsy and some important points
Epilepsy is a neurological disorder that manifests in people 
experiencing recurrent unprovoked seizures such as sensory or 
thought disturbances, or at its extreme, loss of consciousness 
and convulsions. This occurs as a result of abnormal electrical 
and chemical activity within the cortex of the brain.

A single episode is 
not always indicative 

of epilepsy.

There are numerous 
types of seizure, 

people may 
experience more 

than one type.

Epilepsy can affect 
anyone, at any age, 
and from any walk 

of life.

Approximately one in 
a hundred people in 
the UK are affected 

by epilepsy.Every day, around 
ninety more people 
are diagnosed with 

epilepsy.

Up to 60-70% of the 
people diagnosed 

with epilepsy in the 
UK are seizure-free.

1 in 100 
people have 

epilepsy

18
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Our Impact

Organisational Structure
The Chief Executive is responsible for the day to day management of the Charity 
and reports to the Committee of Management, who are Trustees of the Charity.  
The strategic direction of the organisation is determined by the Trustees who have 
overall responsibility for the Charity.  The Trustees also ensure that the Charity 
adheres to the policies and procedures laid down by the Charity Commission 
and the Care Quality Commission. In order to fulfil this role, the Trustees have 
established the following subcommittees:  Changing Perceptions, Finance and 
Risk, Fundraising & Marketing, Health and Social Care, Property and Developments 
and Nominations and Remunerations Committee. These subcommittees report 
regularly to the Board where decisions are formally agreed.

THE MEATH 
RECOGNISES 
ABILITY NOT 
DISABILITY AND 
EVERY SUCCESS 
IS CELEBRATED

CEO

P/T PA

Head of 
Operations 

& HR

Training 
Manager

Skills Centre, 
Social 

Enterprises  
& Reception

Registered 
Manager 

& Support 
Services

Marketing 
Team

Fundraising 
Team

Head of  
Fundraising & 

Marketing

Head of 
Finance

Property & 
Facilities 
Manager

Finance Team

HR Advisor
Property  

& Facilities 
Team

HR 
Administrator

Administrative Structure
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Training 

We have long been respected for the quality, competence and 
professionalism of our staff and are very aware that we owe this in 
no small way to the importance that we attach to their welfare and 
training. Over the years, this has greatly benefitted The Meath in the 
low staff turnover and in the overall relaxed and happy atmosphere 
that permeates throughout every one of our services.

0 5 10 15 20

Manual handling: 16

H&S: 2

Food Safety : 3

Fire: 12

First Aid: 4

Medication: 17

Autism: 3

Epilepsy: 6

Infection Control: 1

MCA & DOLS: 2

Safeguarding: 2

Conducting investigations and disciplinary for management : 2

Supervisions, time management: 1 (external course)

Total number of sessions held

Adult social care grant  £1,632.80

Workforce development funding £7,860 

Apprenticeship level current balance £7,110

We currently have one staff member doing Business 
Admin , 2 internal staff doing Health and Social Care 
level 2 & 3 , and in July we have an external lady 
starting on the Health and Social Care level 2

Michelle Plumb  Training Manager

The pie chart below gives a snap shot view  
of how funds are allocated for Training. 

Chart showing numbers of training sessions held. 
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Risk and Corporate 
Governance Matters 

Trustees are responsible for the management of risks 
faced by the Charity, and treat risk management as a 
priority.  Risk awareness is emphasised throughout 
all levels of the organisation.  Risks are identified and 
assessed and controls are applied throughout the year 
by senior management and other staff employed by 
the Charity.  Each risk has been grouped and evaluated 
according to priority and assigned to one of the five 
subcommittees for detailed annual review, with the 
assistance of senior management, and to check that 
procedures have been established to mitigate those risks.

The Finance and Risk subcommittee formally reviews 
the entire risk management process annually.  There is a 
major incident plan that operates immediately a serious 
incident has been identified, and all the other risks are 
managed on a daily basis.  The Charity is subject to regular 
inspections by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) and is 
required to conform to the National Care Standards.

As an employer, the Charity holds health and safety 
matters as paramount, working to the Health and Safety 
at Work Act 1974 and other associated legislation.  
The Chief Executive is responsible for monitoring  
The Meath’s policy and its implementation,  
maintenance and ongoing review.

The Charity has a procedure for reporting accidents, 
diseases and dangerous occurrences to the Health 
and Safety Executive and the National Care Standards 
Commission, with all records being kept for inspection.

The main risks identified by the Board are:

• Reliance on fees from Local Authorities.

• Inability to raise funds for future developments/
refurbishments.

• Poor property maintenance leading to major repair cost.

• Lack of ability to recruit staff and poor staff retention.

• Breach of any relevant legislation. 

The processes to mitigate these risks are  
summarized below:

•  The aim is to provide value for money specialist care 
and maintain excellent communication with the Local 
Authorities.

• The Charity employs fundraising professionals and 
plans are fully funded before initiating developments.

• A rolling maintenance programme is operated with 
professional advice.

• The Charity offers excellent opportunities and is 
constantly reviewing the recruitment offers and staff 
development.

• An HR professional specialist is retained to minimise 
any risk.

• Staff training is undertaken to maintain and improve 
high care standards. 

Funds held as custodian for others    
The Charity acts as appointee for those residents who 
are unable to, or choose not to, operate their own 
personal finances.  These funds are held in a designated 
bank account with the money available to each 
individual resident upon request.



Related Parties

Arthouse Unlimited – Charity No 1177900
ARTHOUSE Meath used to be one of The Meath’s Social 
Enterprises but has grown significantly over recent 
years, meaning that the talents and skills of the Artists 
at the heart of the enterprise are being appreciated 
by an ever expanding wider audience. The Artists are 
increasingly involved with the local community and at 
the same time work very closely with the team who help 
to develop the business including assisting in the shop 
and packing products.  
As a result the Artists’ confidence and pride 
continuously grow, and a true sense of purpose 
is developed and evolved. All the while the Artists 
continue to experience the best service of care and 
personal support in a safe working environment.

This significant growth enabled ARTHOUSE Meath, 
endorsed and supported by The Meath Epilepsy Charity, to 
become a standalone charity (Charity No 1177900). From 
Summer 2018 Arthouse Meath became Arthouse Unlimited 
with its own charity number and became a completely 
different enterprise to The Meath Epilepsy Charity.

The plan is that ARTHOUSE Unlimited and The Meath 
Epilepsy Charity will always work closely. The Meath 
Epilepsy Charity are keen to support this new venture and 
have pledged to pay in the region of £130k per annum 
for at least the next two years to cover the cost of places 
for our residents on the daily workshops at Arthouse 
Unlimited whilst the charity is establishing itself.

Anna Coss is a Trustee of The Meath and a Director of 
ARTHOUSE Unlimited. Colin Stokes was a Trustee of The 
Meath until his retirement on 31st March 2018.  He is 
now Chairman of ARTHOUSE Unlimited.

Westbrook Housing
Tim Bloomfield and Malcolm Ring are Directors of 
Westbrook Housing which was formed in January 
2012. The Charity works closely in offering supported 
living services to the tenants of Westbrook Housing 
affected by Epilepsy and associated disabilities. Apart 
from the above, no other Trustees of The Meath have 
connections with any other interested parties.

Risk Register
The Risk Register is updated quarterly or more as 
appropriate by the Senior Management Team and 
reviewed and approved by the CEO and presented  
to the Board for approval.

Grant-making
The Charity does not make grants to  
other organisations.
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Activities Report 

Accommodation and Support Services

Progressive pathway
The Meath offers a complete progressive pathway of specialist care and support 
for people aged nineteen years onwards who are affected by complex Epilepsy and 
additional challenging disabilities. From twenty-four hour, high needs registered care, 
through to a few hours’ support in a person’s own tenancy, our range of living options 
span the divide and offer flexible, tailored solutions to cater for particular needs.

Health Care
Our specialist Health Care Team is led by the Head of Residential & Commercial.    
The team ensures that the people that we support have immediate and continuous 
support to assist them in handling their Epilepsy, together with any other 
challenging condition they may face. They operate regular clinics, including twice-
weekly GP surgeries in association with a local doctor, ensuring that each client 
receives the latest and most appropriate medication and advice. This includes an 
Epilepsy Nurse, Healthcare Co-ordinator, Physiotherapist, two Therapy Assistants 
and an Occupational Therapist as well as two Occupational Therapy Assistants  
and a Chiropodist who all work towards helping each person to develop and  
maintain personal fitness and to fulfil their individual potential. 

The Meath Houses
We operate eight individual houses on site that are run by specific staff teams 
to ensure continuity and stability for the people that we support. Each person is 
encouraged to participate in the basic running of the house, if at all possible. This 
encourages the development of daily living and independence skills. In 2019 we will  
be opening a new house The Bradbury to accommodate people with complex needs.

Take a Look Inside… 
Every House at The Meath is a unique and special home
Each house has a warm and friendly feel but The Meath’s eight very special homes  
each have their own identity. Every home is unique due to the special staff and 
residents behind each door who all work together to ensure that every resident is 
enabled to make the most of every day and to be safe and comfortable at night time.
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Meath Supported Living
In addition to our on-site accommodation, we also offer high-quality assistance 
to people living in their own tenancies through Meath Home Support. Through 
this service, we can provide people with precisely tailored support, be it every 
day or for a few hours each week, in the privacy of their own home and to suit 
their personal budget.

Skills Centre and other activities
It is very much part of our core ethos to provide opportunities enabling people 
to live interesting, fulfilled lives.  The Meath Skills Centre offers access to a 
wide diversity of skills training, sports, creative and leisure pursuits in order for 
residents to try new activities or to work towards their own personal goals at a 
level and pace to suit themselves. As well as this we offer day-time sessions to 
30 external people from both our two supported living houses in Godalming, 
and also other external clients who are keen to make use of our facilities and 
the many sessions on offer.  Everyone is welcome at the Skills Centre.

The Centre is organised into several small social enterprises, all of which are run by 
qualified instructors who maintain a varied and stimulating programme of activities. 

These include:
‘Backstage’: A creative and expressive arts workshop that uses dance, drama, 
music and performing arts to foster the development of verbal and non-verbal 
communication and encourage free expression. Participants work alongside 
volunteers in producing scripts, designing and creating costumes, props and 
backdrops through to public performance, both on and off site.

The best thing about living in Supported Living is how 
my key workers are with me.  I love my routine but I also 
enjoy being independent.  There are two different houses 
in Supported Living.  My housemates are Ben, David and 
Sharon and I get on well with them.  - Adam

Backstage is amazing because I get to act. I enjoy acting  
and I get to show other people my personality and talent.  
I get listened to and I get to decide what to wear, and I get 
to dance and sing, which is awesome! - Isobel

Turn to p33 to see Adam’s story.

It’s not the winning that counts, it’s the taking part! I felt 
proud helping to make hats and doing it all together, 
working as a team in Backstage. I am pleased if someone 
else wants to wear them. - Maria

Everything we do in 
Backstage is about the 
process as well as the 
end result. We discuss 
ideas together and 
create mood boards, 
everyone takes part 
regardless of their 
ability. This year we’ve 
taken our work to 
exhibition at Cranleigh 
Arts Centre and the 
Backstage team were 
thrilled to see their work 
on display.  
- Chrissie,  
Activity Co-ordinator

I missed out on so much school when I was a child because 
of my Epilepsy so I’m making up for it now. I enjoy my 
history and science sessions and have learnt so much by 
working with session leaders. I also love going to hydro,  
I come back feeling so fantastic!  - Regan
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‘IT’: Our brand new specially adapted IT Suite, kindly 
donated by a donor in 2018, enables people of all abilities 
to take part in the sessions.  The interactive smart board is 
invaluable for learning, art and IT and is used daily.   
There is now a designated IT support worker to create 
and encourage imaginative sessions.   

‘Health and Wellbeing’: With The Meath’s fully equipped Gym at its heart, 
sessions that work towards promoting a healthy, active lifestyle include 
structured gym classes, Badminton, Yoga, Tai Chi,  Zumba and swimming, 
while for the more adventurous, ‘Meath Extreme’ offers activities such as 
rock climbing, canoeing, and orienteering. ‘Meath Ability’ is also active with 
the team supporting activities such as boat trips, rock climbing, surfing and 
orienteering which are a challenge but not quite so physically challenging.

We had a room with computers and chairs in it and got by and now we have a specially designed IT 
Suite that can be used by any resident whatever their disability - it has changed everything for us and 
we use the new IT Suite for learning and leisure and everyone loves it. - John IT Activities Co-ordinator

When I arrived at The Meath I was very nervous in the gym but Jack helped me to build my confidence.  
Now I am comfortable on any machinery in the gym and attend three times a week.  It helps me clear 
my head and de-stress.  I have also noticed a massive improvement in my hand to eye co-ordination 
over the last year or so.  I have achieved more than I ever thought I would. - Sophie

It helps me to feel calm especially if I have had 
a bad day with my seizures. It slows me down 
and helps me focus on one thing when my 
mind is jumbled and is all over the place and  
I feel clearer afterwards. - Ella

The physical side of yoga has really helped 
my weaker side. I love the relaxation when I 
can visualise squashing all my worries about 
my medication and seizures into a ball and 
throwing them out to sea. I come out of the 
session clearer and less worried about life 
and ready to take on the next thing. - AmyYoga makes me feel more bendy - Laura

My favourite session is IT, I love 
computers! Recently I used our IT suite 
to do research for my project about 
buses - buses are something else I love!  
- John, resident

YOGA 
sessions at 
the Meath
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‘Pottery’: A brand new Pottery room was kindly donated by a 
funder in 2018, including a new kiln, and pottery is one of the 
most popular classes.  Classes with a professional ceramicist 
provide a further outlet for artistic and creative expression and the 
development of personal skills in an encouraging, fun environment. 

‘Horticulture’: Regular sessions led by a keen gardener provide 
people with the therapeutic benefits of gardening with all aspects 
of flower and vegetable growing undertaken throughout the year.

‘Cookery’: A popular activity that teaches basic cookery 
techniques that can be utilised daily as they practice 
planning and preparing meals in their own home.  We 
take diet and healthy eating very seriously and in early 
2019 have introduced a new role of Residential Catering 
Lead who will encourage residents to enjoy a healthy 
diet that is varied and nutritious.  In 2018 we ran courses 
by an external nutritionist to encourage the residents to 
understand the benefits of healthy eating. 

Clients of all abilities get so much out of ceramics sessions.  It is 
a calming, sociable and tactile activity.  They are always excited 
to see the end results of their work once it has been fired.  
- Luisa - Ceramicist

The Gardening Club is so popular and 
the members love planting beautiful 
blooms and watching them grow and 
planting baskets.  Peter even has a 
garden outside his window in Little 
Meath in the summer.  
- Beryl - Gardening  
Activities Co-ordinator

I believe that The Meath is so uniquely special, it should be used 
as a blueprint for all residential care homes throughout the UK. 
Each person is cared for with sensitivity and a recognition of his/
her individual needs, which profoundly affects the life of anyone 
needing care. It doesn’t feel like a care home – when you are 
there, it feels like you’re part of a family!
- Kate - Relative



‘The Arts and Crafts workshop’ offers participants the opportunity to 
express themselves freely through their own individual style and choice of 
medium. The people we support aspire to create their own artworks and 
crafts, learning valuable skills and techniques as they work.
Art is popular with the people we support in all its various forms and in 
March 2019 we created a specific art room with a designated art support 
worker.  The plan is to further develop therapeutic Art over the next year.

We also undertake a number of impromptu group 
networking sessions to explore subjects of interest, as 
well as working extensively with outside organisations, 
which not only ensures the people we support are able 
to access the best available choices, but that they can 
also play a full and active part in the wider community

Across the whole organisation, we strive continuously 
to maintain the vibrant and supportive environment 
for which The Meath is renowned, operating a person-
centred approach that encourages everyone to achieve 
their own individual goals. We continuously monitor 
and evaluate plans to ensure that they remain focused 
as people’s needs develop and change.

Photography: There is an active photography group and one keen resident 
photographer takes many photos for The Meath and has a gallery in Changing 
Perceptions.  (Photograph by Resident Andrew Prizeman.)

Anything goes! I’ve done things I wouldn’t have done before, 
such as the fashion show and the talent show. I’ve learnt to 
communicate with others better. - Danny

I like making jewellery, 
I love all the different 
coloured glass beads. I’ve 
made earrings for my mum 
and I also like seeing the 
things I make on sale at 
Changing Perceptions. - 
Emma, Day Client

We use donated materials and work in a group on different 
projects. Recently we were given lots of unwanted bathroom 
tiles and we’ve been creating mosaics with them. The craft 
sessions have a therapeutic quality for the group and we all 
enjoy a chat while we’re busy making things. Craft activities  
also utilise fine motor skills which is really useful for lots of  
the people we support. - Jacki, Activities Co-ordinator
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Every day at The Meath is special...
With a wide range of daily activities to choose from at the Skills Centre and a 
great programme of social events and trips out, Meath residents are supported 
to have the best day possible, each and every day.

Meath residents enjoy an active social life. Being able to 
celebrate a special occasion with friends, try something new, 
and get up to have a dance is something that all residents     
enjoy. We cater for all needs and tastes. Using social skills 
and experiencing new things are really important for Meath 
residents who sometimes need gently coaxing out of  comfort 
zones in order to live a more fulfilled life.  
- Erica, Residents’ Events Manager

Recognising and valuing different 
people’s efforts is a vital pathway for 
each and every resident. Seeing the 
happiness glow on the face of each 
resident at the Annual Skills Centre 
Award Ceremony as they received  
their award was just wonderful.  
- Parent

Volunteering
Volunteers are the life blood of The Meath! Our wonderful and dedicated 
volunteers enable us to provide a huge range of skills sessions and the very best 
of care for the people we support. Meath Volunteers assist with everything from 
helping residents to enjoy skills sessions to assisting the fundraising team with 
everything required for a smooth running programme of events. 
On behalf of all the people we support at The Meath who have benefited 
immensely from the kindness, generosity of spirit and friendship offered by our 
incredible volunteers last year we would like to say a huge Thank you! 

Meath Volunteers 
have used their skills 
and interests such as 

photography, gardening 
and geography to enhance 

the lives of the people  
we support.

Meath  
Volunteer  
Facts

We have over 180 
amazing regular 

volunteers at  
The Meath!

Volunteers saved 
The Meath £285,000 
last year but their 

contribution is 
invaluable to us!

I was attracted to 
volunteering at CP by 
the idea of being able 
to integrate myself into 
a group of people who, 
despite having health 
problems, are totally 
sincere and spontaneous  
- a rare reality.  
- Alessandro, Volunteer

Other voluntary roles like 
sorting clothes in charity 
shops did not appeal. 
My past experience as a 
Special Needs Teacher 
and the fact that I had 
always loved painting 
meant it was a good 
match for me. I love the 
furniture workshop! 
Liz, Volunteer

 
Volunteer
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The Meath Swimming Group has a volunteer to assist every resident with their 
swimming! Swimming may be an easy activity to most people but the people we 
support require one to one support in order to help them to keep safe, motivated 
and enabled to enjoy swimming just like anyone else. 

The Meath Swimming Volunteers assist our Physio Team to take residents 
swimming and Jo Jo, Physiotherapist, explains why she feels they are a very special 
group of people:

Our wonderful Swimming Volunteers give their time, energy and good humour every week in 
order to enable us to safely take a group of residents, for whom swimming presents challenges 
and risks but also huge benefits. Only with 1:1 support can we safely support the people in our 
care to enjoy swimming and The Meath simply couldn’t possibly afford staffing levels to support 
this required ratio. Swimming Volunteers are very special people who enable Meath residents to 
access swimming at their local swimming pool.

The Meath Swimming Volunteer team were 

delighted to receive an award at The Sport 

Godalming Annual Awards Ceremony 2018 in 

recognition of their role in enabling those with  

a disability to access and enjoy sport.

Not only does swimming offer the people we support 
exercise and a great sense of achievement, but it 
promotes social interaction with members of the 
community, volunteers enjoy a coffee with the 
swimming group after each session and some lovely 
community contacts have been made as a result of 
fellow swimmers simply having a chat with The Meath 
Swimming group.

Corporate and Social Responsibility (CSR)
In addition to our 180 volunteers who volunteer all year round on an on-going basis 
we also benefit enormously from welcoming staff teams to The Meath for CSR days. 
Last year we hosted 148 people from companies such as Lindt, Colgate Palmolive 
and the University of Surrey. While our guests enjoyed learning about The Meath 
and swapping spreadsheets for paint brushes for the day we got lots of jobs ticked 
off and residents have enjoyed the colourful results of their hard work! 

CSR Day  
Facts

CSR days have saved 
The Meath around 

£6,000 in decorating 
and grounds work 

costs!

The Meath has also 
benefited from over 
£2,000 of generously 

donated goods in 
kind from our CSR 

day companies!
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‘Changing Perceptions’   
Changing Perceptions is a Meath social enterprise and is 
now trading alongside other retail outlets at 133 High Street, 
Godalming. The Changing Perceptions’ team comprises Meath 
clients, volunteers and staff, all working together on donations 
of preloved furniture, upcycling and repurposing each piece 
before selling on to customers through their High Street 
saleroom. All of the staff and volunteers pride themselves on 
providing real support for people with challenging conditions 
which empowers and enables their involvement in a friendly, 
fashionable and rewarding activity that reduces stigma and 
brings about a true sense of community.

The popularity of Changing Perceptions within the town has 
grown throughout the past year, with many more volunteers 
signing up as a result of having stopped for coffee, purchased an 
item of upcycled furniture and then bought into the whole ethos.

Changing Perceptions also has a quirky Café which sells Fair 
Trade teas and barista coffee plus home-made cakes and light 
lunches. It has proved a popular meeting place in Godalming 
for families and business people alike. Furthermore, the highly 
responsible recycling ethos of the enterprise - keeping items 
from landfill and turning them into highly original painted pieces 
of quality - has already made it a destination of choice for people 
seeking to endorse its environmentally friendly focus.  In 2018 
Changing Perceptions started selling Eco Cups.

Changing Perceptions genuinely reaches out to the community 
and is involved in many different community activities. 

Changing Perceptions held a very 
successful furniture exhibition at 
Cranleigh Arts Centre and further 
raised awareness of the wonderful 
work both they and The Meath do.  
The fundraising Department held a 
fundraising film night on one of the 
evenings of the exhibition at the art 
centre and so a further 120 guests 
were made aware of the work of 
Changing Perceptions.

The Meath’s  
Social Enterprise
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Changing Perceptions was fully involved with International 
Epilepsy Awareness Day 2019 #Purple Day and supporting the 
Fundraising Department.   
The Manager left in early 2019 to take up a new challenge but 
has left Changing Perceptions in safe hands to continue to build 
on the success that it enjoys as part of Godalming’s community.

The team at Changing Perceptions were delighted to win “Best 
Window” award in 2018 from Godalming Borough Council. 
 

Changing Perceptions forges extensive links with the community 
and provides work placements every year for Rodborough and 
Broadwater Secondary Schools and special needs schools such 
as Unstead Park.  College and University placements are also 
offered each year as well as supporting students doing voluntary 
work as part of the Duke of Edinburgh schemes.

More information is available at www.changingperceptions.org.uk

Thanks to a generous 
donation Changing 
Perceptions now has  
a wheelchair stair lift  
and really is entirely 
disability friendly.

I so look forward each week to coming to talk and work 
alongside such lovely people.  Changing Perceptions has  
such a warm and friendly atmosphere. - Liz, Volunteer

I love it! Everything comes to life.   
It lights me up every day! - Peter, Resident

I feel good when I come to CP!  
- Rosie - Resident
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Who Will You Be Helping?  
Everyone has a story…

Amy’s story

It’s been a hard life for me, what I’ve gone through is very rare 
stuff so I’ve had to fight hard for things. I take 62 different 
tablets a day and have done since I was 3 years old. It all 
started when I had a stroke at 10 months old, from which I lost 
all movement in my left side. The stroke brought on Epilepsy 
when I was 10, without the stroke I wouldn’t have Epilepsy.  

I also have a metabolic disorder called OCT, which means 
I lack the enzymes that breakdown proteins. If I eat more 
than 30g of protein a day, I get very ill, so my diet has to be 
regulated at all times.  I have complex partial seizures or 
absences and due to this and my metabolic disorder  
means I have to be constantly supervised.  

Amy has a very busy and 
full life here at The Meath 
and is one of our leading 
members of the Choir!    
(To the right is Amy singing 
at the Carols at St Clement 
Danes, December 2018).

Amy

Regan’s Story

I have so much in my life that I want to do.  Before I lived at 
The Meath, it didn’t seem likely that I would get the chance.  
But with the help and opportunities that I have now, I have 
even taken up sports.  It’s wonderful!  I have always said to 
myself, don’t let your disability stop you doing things – take 
a chance in life and have a go ... and now, I feel I can!

I developed epilepsy as a young child and had to have half 
my brain removed when I was 11 years old, so now I can’t 
use my right arm at all and have a weak right side and need 
a leg brace to walk. I came to live at The Meath nine years 
ago where I am able to pursue my passion for learning e.g. 
history, geography and science. I also volunteer at a local 
day centre for the elderly.  My other passion is sport -  
I enjoy horse riding, I have canoed down the River Thames, 
gone caving and abseiling. I have a very independent spirit 
and The Meath has fostered that.

Regan



Adam’s Story  – Supported Living Resident

The best thing about living in Supported Living is how my Key Workers 
are with me. I love my routine but also I enjoy being independent. There 
are two different houses in Supported Living, my housemates are Ben, 
David and Sharon and I get on well with them.  

Every Wednesday we plan our meals for the week ahead and on 
Thursday we take turns to do the shopping. We have a regular tenants 
meeting too.  I work at Sainsbury’s twice a week, I walk there on my own 
and I enjoy it. I even won the employee of the year award! I have been 
working there for nearly three years now. Once a week I go to Changing 
Perceptions, I like all the different people there and always chat while 
I work on up-cycling furniture.  In my free time I like to watch my DVDs 
and read, I go home every other weekend. I’m getting back into running 
and will be running with my sister next month.  Being here makes me 
happy as The Meath keeps me safe.

Sharon’s Story – Supported Living Resident   
(by Jack The Meath Fitness Trainer)

Sharon first arrived lacking confidence and had no real interest in fitness 
or wellbeing at all, but was determined enough to lose weight and feel 
happier within herself. Sharon’s journey started around a year ago, she 
had never used the gym before but warmed and felt comfortable more 
towards the up seated bike amongst the cardio machinery. Sharon 
really struggled with her fitness levels at first, we decided to set herself a 
small but achievable goal of a 5km cycle just once a week on a Thursday 
afternoon, which Sharon dreaded but remained focused throughout.

A year on I have seen Sharon’s self-esteem and confidence grow in 
leaps and bounds, she has lost a total of 3.5 stone and now uses the 
Gym regularly three times a week. Sharon said she now sees her gym 
sessions as a “hobby and not so much a task”, often setting herself new 
goals regularly increasing the intensity and cycling 10km at a time now.

It is amazing to see the change in Sharon and I am very proud to be a 
part of Sharon’s journey and watch the achievement and happiness she 
gets out of taking part week in week out.

Having lost so much  weight, Sharon then even stopped biting her nails!  
Sharon is feeling great and has also recently found her voice with The 
Meath Choir!  As a life-long Elvis fan Sharon was thrilled to be given a 
solo in The Meath choir’s rendition of ‘Suspicious Minds’. 

Adam

Sharon with Jack
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Fundraising and 
Marketing Report

Fundraising
While The Meath is committed to proving the outstanding level of care and 
support that residents and day clients receive, the variety of opportunities, 
combined with specialist care and support, do not come cheaply. The people 
we support receive funding from their own Local Authority for a basic care 
package but, with a successful fundraising department, The Meath finds ways 
to augment the allowance for all the extra things that mean so much to those 
in our care. From enjoyable trips out to new furniture, vital refurbishment 
to a year of singing classes, fundraising at The Meath means the difference 
between simply living and living a fulfilled life where people we support are 
able to experience, enjoy, challenge themselves and to be engaged and active 
members of their community. Over the past year the Fundraising & Marketing 
team has expanded and is now better placed than ever to continue to enable 
The Meath to go from strength to strength.

The Fundraising Department had a very successful year in 2018-19 with 
income of £710k for year end.  £398k of this income was housed for the office 
conversion project to offer 3 new people homes at The Meath.

Tania Cantoni, Head of Fundraising & Marketing 
said “This continues to be an area of key 
development for the Chief Executive and Trustees 
as the difficult economic climate means that it 
has never been more important for the Charity 
to have a professional fundraising and marketing 
department.  The department has grown and 
developed in the last year, achieved record 
breaking income and has significantly raised the 
profile of both The Meath and Epilepsy.   

The Meath is benefitting from a new energetic 
and enthusiastic team with vision and fresh 
fundraising and marketing strategies.  The team 
is well resourced by full and part-time colleagues 
who have individual areas of expertise.  All of 
the team work to the highest moral and ethical 
standards and we are always transparent and 
honest to supporters about what we want the 
money for and why.  We always make it clear to 
potential donors how much of their money is 
directly used for the beneficiaries.”

Tania Cantoni 
Head of Fundraising  

& Marketing

The Meath Fundraising & Marketing Team

Back Row - L:R Lucy, Jamie, Sarah, Marni

Front Row - L:R Yasmine, Tania, Helen



The pie chart below gives a snap shot view of how  
the £712,464 from the various income streams perform. 

83 Pence
In EVERY Pound

directly benefits the 
people we support

Enrichment Fund (includes Meath 100) £30,102

Fundraising events £95,801

Corporate £40,786

Wish list £15,010

Gift Aid £19,259

Other donations £1,904

Legacies £12,093

Sale of goods £1,274

Charities and Trusts £496,235

Events Highlights 2018
We are extremely fortunate to have ongoing support from a variety of 
individuals, corporates and Trusts, and we thank them all for helping us to 
continue our valuable work enabling and empowering extremely vulnerable 
individuals to live safe, happy and fulfilled lives.   In 2018 we worked with some 
large corporations on Corporate and Social Responsibility days which were 
very beneficial to the charity.  All the support that we receive enables us to 
build on our work and ensure that The Meath stays operational. 
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Being able to get an All 
Terrain Wheelchair means 
that we have been able to 
take clients to places that 
they were previously unable 
to access.  Wheelchair users 
have now been able to go 
on a sandy beach and take 
advantage of some of our 
local country side.  
Robbie, Physio Assistant

All Terrain Wheelchair

I really like being able 
to have physio in the 
treatment room rather 
than my bedroom now 
that we have the new 
hoist.  It’s good to keep 
my bedroom for relaxing 
and use the treatment 
room for hard work! 
Siobhan, Resident

Funding for Changing Perceptions: £48K raised  for core costs and new equipment including a much needed wheelchair stair lift for the café-workshop  and power assisted wheelchair. 

Pottery Room

£6k provided a complete refurbishment of our 

old and tired pottery room including a new 

kiln and loads of new equipment - Pottery is 

one of the most popular sessions.

New Physio Hoist

Garden Benches Many supporters donated £250 to buy several good quality hard wearing garden benches to go in our beautiful grounds for residents to sit on and socialise and enjoy the view.

Kia Cee’d Car
Our new £10k car transports the people we support 

individually or in small groups and is key to our ability to 

offer a tailored client centred service.  Many of the people 

we support are at risk of struggling to access local places of 

interest and to feel socially integrated outside of The Meath.

Having had a wonderful new 
bathroom fitted, bath time is now 
a more enjoyable experience for 
residents. Mood lighting, sparkly 
flecks on the tiles and the radio 
built into the mirror are popular 
with residents while the staff 
find that the new changing table 
minimizes manual handling  
and risk of back injury. 
Carl, Manager of Little Meath

New £35k Specially  

designed IT Suite

The standing frame offers 
considerable health benefits such as 
improved circulation and breathing 
to wheelchair users.  Meath residents 
have also very much enjoyed the 
experience of being able to  
stand on land.  Jo Jo, Physio

New Standing Frame

Treadmill
Residents’ self esteem and confidence grows in leaps and bounds through using the gym and the new £5k Treadmill is 

proving very popular with all!

Fundraising  
Highlights

Bathroom in Little Meath

New 17 seater Mini Bus



Smaller projects have also enhanced the lives of residents. Smaller funding 
allocations have funded brand new T-Shirts and kit bags for The Meath 
swimming group, films for Meath Movie Nights and a new specially adapted 
table for the Skills Centre Cookery Room. The team is also extremely grateful 
for the friendship and support that comes in many other forms from local 
community organisations.

We continue to maintain and seek to improve the relationships we value with 
all of our stakeholders, particularly the families and friends of the people we 
care for and support, while we are also keen to welcome new people who 
share our philosophy and aims.

Marketing   
In common with most charities we made the decision to split the Fundraising & 
Marketing disciplines. The monthly publication, Meath Matters, has gone from 
strength to strength in the last year and there is a plethora of new and relevant 
literature.  The Marketing Co-ordinator has assisted with the combined Annual 
Accounts and Impact Report for 2018 and was a key player in the marketing for 
the Purple Day Campaign. The increased awareness of both Epilepsy and The 
Meath over the last year is huge and even apart from the Purple Day Campaign 
the continuous marketing of The Meath has paid dividends.  

Budgets for 2019-2020
A challenging and ambitious target gross income of 
£776,500 has been agreed for the fundraising team to 
achieve in 2019/20.  There is a significant increase on the 
Trusts and Foundations targets and we have for 2019/20 
set separate targets for both operational and capital 
funding and also for restricted and non-restricted funds.  

The main focus of the fundraising department for the 
current financial year is to strengthen The Meath’s 
financial position and sustainability.

83 Pence
In EVERY Pound

directly benefits the 
people we support

The promotional Meath Day videos depicting life and 
activities at The Meath have proved very successful  
as was the promotional Purple Day Campaign video.   
The virtual tour of The Meath and new website have been 
extremely well received and the development of our social 
media and website through the appointment of a Digital 
Communications Officer has been extremely successful.
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Charity of The Year
We are lucky to be supported by so 
many organisations as Charity of The 
Year but were particularly delighted 
that Cllr Dan Adams, The Mayor of 
Surrey Heath made us one of his 
chosen charities for 2018-19.  He and his wife Sarah worked tirelessly for 
The Meath helping and supporting us in his Mayoral year and on Purple 
Day visited 13 different Purple Day sights.  Dan does not want to lose 
touch with the charity and we are working together to find a role to help 
us continue to spread the word about Epilepsy.

Cllr. Dan Adams – Mayor of Surrey Heath
“Prior to my appointment at the Mayor of Surrey Heath, my wife, Sarah, 
and I thought long and hard about which charities we wished to support 
ensuring that during our year, the platform we have been given we can 
use to really make a difference. 

I grew up with my Mum living with Epilepsy and, whilst to me it was 
quite normal and she was just ‘mum’, as a child it was apparent that so 
many people shy away from talking about Epilepsy perhaps through 
the unknown or the stigma that was once attached. One of my earliest 
memories is a time where mum took me to the dentist whose entrance 
was at the top of a fire escape, we climbed the steps to find that the door 
was closed. Mum had a seizure at the very top and I found myself as a 
nine-year-old boy having to lock my legs either side of the stairs to stop 
us both falling. I looked around to find many passers by simply looking on 
and not one coming to help. 

The work of The Meath along with other organisations has brought about 
a huge change in people’s perceptions of those living with Epilepsy and 
for that I am truly grateful. Before becoming Mayor, I visited The Meath 
and was simply blown away by the amazing community they have and the 
work that they do. Many of you will be aware that as soon as you enter the 
grounds you really cannot miss the vibrant and welcoming atmosphere 
that greets you. The residents and staff really are a formidable team and 
one that I am both proud and honoured to support. 

Keep up the fantastic work everyone and I look forward to continuing to 
support you once my Mayoral year is over.

Open Air Cinema Event

Fundraising Team on Purple Day
The Mayor’s Grand Ball

Mayor of Surrey Heath  

Dan Adams and Mayoress Sarah Adams 

visit The Meath on Christmas Day

Carols at St Clement Danes
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International Epilepsy Awareness Day  
#Purple Day March 2019    
The Meath Fundraising and Marketing team embarked on their 
biggest awareness and fundraising campaign to date for Purple 
Day this year. As an unseen condition, Epilepsy needs awareness 
raised and we’re delighted to have made a big impact in the local 
areas of Godalming, Guildford and Cranleigh this Purple Day.   
Purple Day raised over £15,000 with more fundraising events 
being held over the summer.  Additionally, we have had 12 
offers to be Charity of The Year 2019-20 from Purple Day.

HM Lord-Lieutenant of Surrey, Michael More-Molyneux held a 
lunch at his home for every Town and Borough Mayor in Surrey 
and they were all asked to make a donation to The Meath.

1 in 100 
people have 

epilepsy
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We have received so much positive feedback from Purple Day but one 
of the most affirming was from the family of one of our residents:

Both John and I have read  
The Meath Matters with great admiration.

Having been involved in fundraising for a number 
of years we realise the tremendous amount of 

hard work and stamina involved to achieve such 
success. Congratulations to all of you and your 
team. The amount of awareness will have long 

term benefits for The Meath.



Life Enrichment Fund - NEW for 2018     
The Meath Life Enrichment Fund was introduced 
in March 2018 as a new initiative to support those 
residents who have families that are unable to support 
them by paying for trips or expensive essential 
equipment that would not naturally be funded.

There is a panel that reviews all requests and meets 
quarterly to agree spending of the funds raised by the 
Fundraising Department.

The fund raised over £24k in 2018 and funded  
11 applications.

We are all inclusive and want to give each and every 
person we support the same opportunities to develop 
and enjoy themselves as their peers do irrespective of 
their financial position.

We receive fee payments that cover each person’s day 
to day care, which is immediately translated into staffing 
and household costs. There is no obligation for the 
Government to provide the many and varied
opportunities that exist at The Meath to help people 
access skills training, sports, creative or leisure pursuits. 

Historically, The Meath has covered every cost. In this 
difficult economic climate it is getting harder for The 
Meath to pay for these non-contractual costs. In order 
to ensure that all the people we support can live life to 
the full and take advantage of every opportunity, we 
have set up a Life Enrichment Fund which has been very 
successful and in 2018 paid for a variety of health care 
equipment and activities.

The Life Enrichment Fund has raised funds for an all-
terrain wheelchair, standing frame, new specially adapted 
bathroom for Little Meath, paid for the Annual Awards 
Ceremony for all the people we support and Christmas 
presents for each resident to name but a few things.

Legacies
We are fortunate enough to have some generous 
supporters who have kindly pledged a gift in their will. 
Leaving a gift in your will is a very special way of giving 
that helps us to ensure that we can continue to provide 
the best service possible for many years to come.

A gift to The Meath in your Will, once family 
and friends have been taken into account, 
will impact dramatically on what can be 
achieved by the Charity, as well as provide a 
wonderfully long-lasting personal legacy.  
Mark Dumas, Chair of Trustees

Our daughter has been in the 
wonderful care of The Meath for  
over 20 years.  During this time she 
has had several life threatening 
episodes and has always been really 
well supported and cared for both 
physically and mentally by 
the amazing staff.  She continues 
to live a relatively well and happy 
life in beautiful surroundings and 
this is why we have decided to leave 
a legacy to The Meath in our Will 
to help them continue with their 
excellent work for not only our 
daughter but all the other residents 
in years to come.
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The Wish List (NEW FOR 2018)   
The Meath Epilepsy Charity is a very special place 
indeed and is home to 80 residents who live with 
complex epilepsy and associated disabilities. Every 
resident is encouraged to live life as independently as 
possible through a personalised programme of care 
and support. Whatever challenges a resident may face, 
the dedicated team of staff and volunteers are on-hand 
to enable each resident to make the most out of life 
and reach their potential. 

It costs £6.3m per annum to keep The Meath 
operational which equates to over £17k per day.  
Despite being a proactive and resourceful charity, 
The Meath has to carefully plan and prioritise new 
opportunities and much needed equipment. Many 
of the staff and people that we support at The Meath 
often recognise the need for something new that, no 
matter how small, would make a big difference to the 
lives of residents.

There was so much that the people that we support 
needed that we just couldn’t cover out of budget so 
we launched our first Wish List in April. We’ve been 
overwhelmed by the generous response by family 
members, supporters and local organisations. Wish List 
donors have provided a new powered wheelchair for  
Changing Perceptions, a digital camera, key items of 
furniture for residents, a TV, an iPad for Occupational 
Health and more!  The Wish List has raised over £20k.

Meath 100   
The Meath 100 is a really simple way to support The 
Meath and stand a good chance of getting something 
back! The Meath 100 lottery raises £3,000 each year 
which helps us to offer the people we support some 
of the things that core funding does not stretch to. 
Meanwhile this year we’ve had some delighted winners 
who have also benefitted! 

Andrew, a resident at The Meath was lucky enough to 
win the top prize of £150 and he didn’t need to think 
twice about how to spend the money. “I’m going to take 
my mum out for a great day out and lunch in London!”

Gift Aid
The Fundraising department reclaim gift aid wherever 
they can and in 2018-19 were able to claim over £19,230 
which was all used for the benefit of the residents.

   

 

 No matter how big or how small,  

you can grant wishes  for us all... 

  November Update 

 The Meath strives to provide the very best of care and 

support for people living with complex epilepsy and        

associated disabilities.  

 Registered Charity Number: 200359 

Wish List 

 3 

 

The Pictures used in this Wish List are for illustrative purposes only. Once a kind donation is received for an item, staff will source the best available  suitable  product. We take care to   obtain products and equipment at a good price but also  need to ensure that all products are of adequate   quality and are built to last.  

No matter how much you would like to donate you can see exactly how your donation will make a genuinely positive difference to Meath  residents.    
£50 – Allows us to buy a large slow cooker for Bradbury Wing. £100 – Will fund a range of outside games equipment for all          residents to enjoy.  

£200 – Buys a food processor to help residents in Bradbury House to cook up a storm. 
£500 – Funds a new TV for Jeffrey Court.  £770 – Purchases a new Fridge Freezer for Thursley. £2,600 – Funds 3  i Pads, heavy duty cases and docking station for a house of your choice.  

£10,000 – Enables us to have a wheelchair swing installed on site. 

83 Pence
In EVERY Pound

directly benefits the 
people we support
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Fundraising Statement

We take pride in our relationships with the people and organisations who support 

The Meath and remain committed to an ethical approach to all our fundraising 

practices. We are registered with the Fundraising Regulator, adhere to the Fundraising 

Regulator’s Code of Fundraising Practice for the UK and comply with the standards 

outlined.  The fundraisers in the department all belong to the Institute of Fundraising. 

We have not worked with a Professional Fundraising Organisation or Commercial 

Participator to solicit donations and have no plans in the future to do so. We have 

always had a strict policy of never selling or passing on our supporters’ personal 

data and have never bought fundraising data from a third party.  A Fundraising & 

Communications Policy was written in 2018 and is available for view by interested 

parties on our website.  The Fundraising & Communications department at The Meath 

is GDPR compliant.

The Meath Epilepsy Charity has received no complaints regarding its Fundraising.

83 Pence
In EVERY Pound

directly benefits the 
people we support
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What Others Say About  
The Meath… Testimonials

The positive attitude of staff, volunteers and residents 
makes being part of The Meath an utter joy.

I believe that the Meath is so uniquely special, it should be used 
as a blueprint for all residential care homes throughout the UK. 
Each person is cared for with sensitivity and a recognition of his/
her individual needs, which profoundly affects the life of anyone 
needing care. It doesn’t feel like a care home – when you are 
there, it feels like you’re part of a family!
- Kate, relative

The Meath recognizes ability not disability 
and every achievement is celebrated.

I have so much in my life that I want to do. Before I lived at  
The Meath, it didn’t seem likely that I would get the chance. 
However, with the help and opportunities that I have now, I 
have even taken up sports. It’s wonderful! I have always said to 
myself, don’t let your disability stop you doing things – take a 
chance in life and have a go and now, I feel I can!
- Regan

Celebrating ability as a Real Family!

As Lindsay Hill describes it “We take you by the hand, encourage 
you to do the best you can, and give you the biggest hug when 
you need it - a real family!” Head of Fundraising & Marketing, 
Tania Cantoni also explained about the excellent volunteer force 
of around 180 at Meath, and how their superb efforts save this 
wonderful charity over a quarter of a million pounds per year.
- High Sheriff of Surrey, Jim Glover, 2018-19
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My daughter has been a resident at The 
Meath since 2009. I think it is a wonderful 
place, staffed by long-serving, invariably 
caring people and my daughter is very happy 
there. Residents are treated as individuals 
and with warmth. For anyone with severe 
epilepsy and associated learning difficulties  
I don’t think there is anywhere better.

I was SO impressed when I dropped into 
Jeffrey Court on Thursday evening. Everyone 
was happy and relaxed. I loved the sing-a-
long (now I know why Emma joins in singing 
in the car!) Chris and Europe are total 
stars.  It’s so nice for us parents to know 
our “children“ are happy and well cared for. 
THANK you so much! 

The Meath provides  
exceptional care for my relatives’ 
complex needs in a stimulating 
vibrant environment.
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The Meath is outstanding in all 
respects.  We could not wish for a 
better home for my sister.

Our son is very content at  
The Meath and has mastered 
several new skills.

My relative receives the best possible care 
and feels safe and reassured at The Meath 
which is very important.

My relative is very happy at The Meath.  
He is kept busy with various activities and 
particularly loves carriage driving.

The Meath is unique in its attitude and 
support to all residents.  The carers and staff 
do their utmost to make it the closest to 
home as is possible whilst still allowing the 
residents room to grow and shine.
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Further to the Relatives Forum, I am 
so pleased we were able to express our 
support and appreciation of you all for your 
continuing care and hard work for all our 
loved ones.   I feel extremely blessed that 
Clare is in the care of The Meath and love 
the support both Clare and I receive. - Parent

It’s when you support someone through a 
difficult time that you realise what a special 
place The Meath is . I have been emphasising 
this to the staff as I think they have 
expectations that all care homes are like 
us, when in reality they just aren’t. This is 
evident when you visit elderly/nursing care. 
We are very lucky to work in such a lovely 
place. - House Manager

The level of assistance we have received for our 
daughter is a first in our experience. We feel that we 
cannot express enough the importance of taking a 
holistic approach in provision of support and health 
care services to an individual who has complex 
refractory epilepsy and learning difficulties. The 
Meath, through the support team, and the health 
care team have demonstrated that this is possible. 
Additionally, the array of activities offered to our 
daughter through the Skills Centre is wonderful and 
we appreciate the flexibility offered on days when 
our daughter is too unwell to attend. - Parent

It is reassuring to see your teams working 
hard to try and uphold The Meath’s aim 
“to enhance the lives of people who have 
complex epilepsy and related disabilities by 
ensuring they receive the support, expert 
epilepsy care and encouragement required 
to build confidence, acquire new skills and 
maximise independence in their daily lives.” 
- Parent



If only all care homes were like this

I visited The Meath with a family looking for placement 
for their son in the future. I have been a carer for over 
30 years and worked in many homes in Surrey.

We visited the high dependency houses. and both 
gave an air of kindness with welcoming staff and good 
interactions between ‘residents’. Before looking at a 
personal bedroom the young man was asked if it was 
ok for us to look...which is always good practice. 

The houses had a homely feel with photos over the 
walls. and personal belongings. 

- Visitor with potential resident

1 in 100 
people have 

epilepsy
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
CHAIR OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial position at year end
At 31 March 2019 total Balance sheet values of both Consolidated Net assets and Funds was £14.7m of which 
£5.1m related to the Charity’s Permanent Endowment fund.  Freehold Property accounted for £12.6m, Other Fixed 
Assets £0.4m, Investments at a market value £0.9m, Cash at bank £0.8m and Current Assets exceeded Current 
Liabilities by £0.8m.

Funding sources during the year £6.8m (2018: £6.3m)
Funding for activities totalled £6.8m during the year and came from Residential, Day Centre and Supported Living 
Fees £5.8m, Income from Social enterprise £0.3m and Donations, legacies and fundraising events £0.6m.

Expenditure during the year £6.7m (2018: £6.8m)
Expenditure on the Charity’s key objectives of providing Residential, Day care and Supported living activities 
totalled £6.2m. Social enterprise costs were £0.3m and fundraising costs £0.2m.

Outcome
A surplus was incurred of £141k (2018: deficit £428k). Cash at bank and in hand increased during the year by £39k to £795k.

Comments on Financial performance
The Consolidated surplus for the year of £141k was higher than last year (deficit of £428k).  The Charity owns 
its freehold premises and so does not have to pay rent for residential accommodation. There has been and is a 
continuing difficulty in obtaining sufficient fees from Local Authorities to provide for the living costs and the life 
enhancing activities which we wish to provide for our residents. A new and enhanced fundraising team has been 
recruited in order to raise the necessary funds.
• Residential and day care services income at £5.8m was 3.2% higher than in 2018 reflecting full occupancy in 

our new Bradbury House. Costs of residential and day care at £6.0m (2018: £6.0m) rose by 3.0% mainly due to 
increased staffing costs. 

•  Supported living income of £213k rose by 3.1% and income from social enterprises decreased to £239k a 
reduction of 49.6% due to the demerger of the Arthouse.  The costs of the social enterprises exceeded their 
income by £72k. (2018: £187k).

•  Donations totalled £601k (2018: £179k). The total cost of raising funds was £248k (2018: £134k). 
•  Capital expenditure of £179k was incurred (2017: £180k) including £68k on Internet equipment and cabling. 

Reserves  Policy
The Charity needs to have reserves to enable it to meet its charitable obligations should there be an unexpected 
revenue shortfall. The existence of unrestricted funds also offers the Meath flexibility to plan and, if necessary, 
temporarily, to fund the start of major projects to improve the standard of accommodation and facilities for residents 
and to maintain its buildings without waiting for all the funds required to be received from the appeals for such 
projects. Free and undesignated reserves at 31 March 2019 amounted to £1.3m being the amount of the unrestricted 
general fund. Trustee Directors have approved a policy of aiming to maintain a level of free reserves in the range 
of 3 to 6 months of expenditure - being £1.6m to £3.1m based on current levels of expenditure. Free reserves 
have temporarily reduced to below the optimal level due to the cost of investment at the Meath in the last 2 years. 
However, there are medium to long term plans over the next 3 to 5 years to return to achieving general funded 
surpluses through fundraising and charitable activities to increase the Meath Epilepsy’s free general reserves to 
match the desired reserve levels of 3 months of operational expenditure. Total funds of the charity are £14.7m made 
up of free reserves of £1.3m, capital fund of £8.2m, restricted funds of £0.3m and endowment funds of £4.8m.

Investment policy and objectives
Investments had a value of £0.9m at 31st March 2019. The Trustee directors can make such arrangements as they 
think fit for the investment of the charity’s funds and have regard to the likely timing of major future development 
expenditure and the level of market prices when making decisions on investments.  Social, environmental and 
ethical aspects of making investments have recently been discussed by the Trustee directors.
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PLANS FOR FUTURE PERIODS

Emerging Opportunities and Cost-Effectiveness
There has been no improvement in the financial environment within social care and the challenges of securing 
sufficient fee levels to meet the true cost of care remain. To deal with this effectively, the Meath has developed its 
professional and special epilepsy expertise to enable it to manage and better evidence resident and client needs 
when in discussions with purchasers.

The drive to improve income by increasing fees runs alongside plans to review expenditure across the board and 
to reduce costs wherever possible without impacting upon the quality of our services and our philosophy of care. 
While the focus on our cost-effectiveness will be maintained ongoing, we will also be updating and reviewing our 
strategic plan to ensure that the Meath can continue to be the ‘Outstanding Leader’ in service provision for people 
with epilepsy and disabilities. 

Summary of the Meath’s Objectives 2019-20
• To ensure that all fees charged are linked to assessed needs and cover the true cost of the support being offered.
•  To review the management structure and roles and responsibilities of staff, ensuring we meet the required 

regulatory and philosophical provision of care in the most cost-effective way possible.
•  To follow the professional conditions survey conducted in 2016 ensuring we operate within a clear schedule of 

planned preventative maintenance, refurbishment and replacement. 
• To complete a comprehensive review of all of the job roles at the Meath to ensure that the job descriptions are 

current and accurate and that the terms, conditions and benefits for each post are fair and reflect the local market. 
•  To increase the revenue from fundraising activities. 
•  To review the staff training programmes ensuring that all staff have access to mandatory, specialist and 

development training courses. 
•  To conduct Strategic Business reviews for all Departments. 
•  To maximise awareness and community engagement of International Epilepsy Day in March 2019
•  To maximise social media engagement by at least 50% more than during the last six months.
•  The Fundraising Department has a challenging target to raise £776k in 2019-2020 and investment has been 

made in the team to take on this challenge with the support of the Chief Executive.

STATEMENT OF TRUSTEE RESPONSIBILITIES
The Trustee Directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

The law applicable to charities in England and Wales, the Charities Act 2011, Charity (Accounts and Reports) 
Regulations 2008 and the provisions of the Trust Deed requires the Trustee Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Charity and of the 
incoming resources and application of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the Charity for that 
period.  In preparing those financial statements, the Trustee Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
•  observe the methods and principles in the Charity SORP;
•  make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
•  state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material                          

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
•  prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 

Charity will continue in business.

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
CHAIR OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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The Trustee Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Charity and to enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Charities Act 2011, the Charity (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 and the 
provisions of the Trust Deed. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Charity and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Trustee Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Charity and financial information 
included on the Charity’s website.  Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Charity Trustees play a very important role in making sure that the charity is run in the interests of the people it is 
there to support. They strategically oversee the management and administration of the organisation.

Trustees ensure their charity has a clear strategy, and that its work and goals are in line with its vision. Trustees’ 
role in a charity is to be the ‘guardians of purpose’, making sure that all decisions put the needs of the beneficiaries 
first. They safeguard the charity’s assets – both physical including property, and intangible, such as its reputation. 
They make sure these are used well and that the charity is run sustainably. 

Trustees don’t usually get involved with the day-to-day running of the charity. They delegate this to the staff, led 
by the Chief Executive. Instead, they play the role of ‘critical friend’ to the Chief Executive by giving support and by 
challenging – in a supportive way – to help them manage effectively. However, in smaller charities with few staff, 
Trustees may take hands-on roles too.

Most Trustee boards meet four to eight times a year. Many boards have subcommittees that focus on particular 
areas of work or projects. Where they do, Trustees are often expected to get involved with one or more 
subcommittees, as well as having a good understanding of their charity’s work overall.

Each new Trustee is appointed for an initial term of five years and may then be re-elected for further periods of 
three years.  The Chairman is appointed at the first meeting in each year until the following year. 
The Trustees confirm that they have complied with the duty in Section 4 of the Charities Act 2011 to have due 
regard to the Charity Commission’s general guidance on public benefit.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEE

M Dumas – Chairman
The Meath Trustee Company Limited

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
CHAIR OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Charities (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 require us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• the information given in the financial statements is inconsistent in any material respect with the Trustee’s report; 

or
•  sufficient accounting records have not been kept by the parent charity; or
•  the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
•  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Responsibilities of trustee
As explained more fully in the Trustee Director’s responsibilities statement set out on page 18, the Trustee is 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as the Trustee Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Trustee Directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the 
parent charity’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustee either intends to liquidate the charity or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
We have been appointed as auditor under section of the Charities Act 2011 and report in accordance with the Act 
and relevant regulations made or having effect thereunder.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our auditor’s report.

Crowe U.K. LLP
Statutory Auditor
London

 
           
Crowe U.K. LLP is eligible for appointment as auditor of the charity by virtue of its eligibility for appointment as 
auditor of a company under section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE TRUSTEE OF THE 
MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
 
 
GROUP  Unrestricted Restricted  Endowment 2019 2018 
  Funds Funds Funds Total funds Total funds 
 Notes £ £ £ £ £ 
INCOME AND       
ENDOWMENTS FROM       
Donations and legacies 2 87,747 513,689 - 601,436 178,630 
Charitable activities    -   
Residential and day care services 4 5,819,813 15,010 - 5,834,823 5,653,242 
Fund raising events  97,236 - - 97,236 41,230 
Social enterprise  238,993 - - 238,993 474,471 
Investment income 3 19,714 - - 19,714 17,416 
       
Total  6,263,503       528,699         - 6,792,202 6,364,989 
       
EXPENDITURE ON       
Charitable activities       
Residential and day care services 5 6,049,790 - 113,364 6,163,154 5,985,463 
Raising funds  5 52,324 195,984 - 248,308 134,225 
Social enterprise 5 309,890 - - 309,890 661,598 
       
Total  6,412,004 195,984 113,364 6,721,352 6,781,286 
       

Net gains/(loss) on investments   70,569 - - 70,569 (11,928) 
       
NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE)  (77,932) 332,715 (113,364) 141,419 (428,225) 
       
Transfers between funds  - - - - - 
       
NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS   (77,932) 332,715 (113,364) 141,419 (428,225) 
       
RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS       
Total funds brought forward   9,630,707 - 4,944,753 14,575,460 15,003,685 
       
TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED        
FORWARD  9,552,775 332,715 4,831,389 14,716,879 14,575,460 
       
        
 
 
CONTINUING OPERATIONS 
Income and expenditure has arisen from continuing and discontinued activities. 
 

 

 

 

 

The notes form part of these financial statements   

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31 MARCH 2019
 

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2019 
 

 
 
             Consolidated             Charity 
  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  £ £ £ £ 
FIXED ASSETS      
Tangible assets 9 13,007,297 13,169,001 13,007,297 13,155,120 
Investments  10 852,207 796,239 852,207 796,240 
      
  13,859,504 13,965,240 13,859,504 13,951,360 
CURRENT ASSETS      
Stock  - 46,113 - - 
Debtors: amounts falling due      
within one year 11 674,003  457,918 723,963 530,836 
Cash at bank and in hand  795,240 755,448 783,240 708,405 
      
  1,469,243 1,259,479 1,507,203 1,239,241 
CREDITORS      
Amounts falling due within      
one year 13 (611,868) (649,259) (611,868) (588,417) 
      
NET CURRENT ASSETS  857,375 610,220 895,335 650,824 
      
TOTAL ASSETS LESS      
CURRENT LIABILITIES  14,716,879 14,575,460 14,754,839 14,602,184 
      
NET ASSETS  14,716,879 14,575,460 14,754,839 14,602,184 
      
FUNDS OF THE CHARITY 15     
Unrestricted funds:      
General fund  1,328,527 1,406,459 1,366,487 1,433,183 
Capital fund  8,224,248 8,224,248 8,224,248 8,224,248 
      
  9,552,775 9,630,707 9,590,735 9,657,431 
      
Restricted funds:      
Restricted Fund  332,715 - 332,715 - 
Endowment funds 
 

 4,831,389 4,944,753 4,831,389 4,944,753 

      
TOTAL FUNDS  14,716,879 14,575,460 14,754,839 14,602,184 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Trustee Directors on 30th July 2019 and were signed on its 
behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
M C Dumas - Chairman 
The Meath Trustee Company Limited 
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
 
 
 
GROUP Notes 2019 2018 
  £ £ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities  A 259,987 (170,488) 
    
Cash flows from investing activities:    
Purchase of fixed asset   (279,025) (179,053) 
Sale of fixed asset   24,515 46,838 
Purchase of fixed asset investments  (94,447) (98,003) 
Sale of fixed asset investments  109,048 110,337 
Interest received   19,714 17,416 
    
Net cash used in investing activities  (220,195) (102,465) 
    
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period  39,792 (272,953) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting    
period  755,448 1,028,401 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period B 795,240 755,448 
    
    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The notes form part of these financial statements  
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
 

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 
 
 
 
 
A. RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 
 
 GROUP 2019 

£ 
2018 

£ 
 Net income/(expenditure) for the reporting period  141,419 (428,225) 
  
 Adjustments for: 

  

 Depreciation charges 416,214 391,457 
 Loss/(Gain) on investments (70,569) 11,928 
 Interest receivable (19,714) (17,416) 
 Decrease/(Increase) in stock 46,113 8,233 
 Increase in debtors (216,085) (174,897) 
 (Increase)/Decrease in creditors (37,391) 38,432 
   
 Net cash (used in)/provided by operating activities 259,987 (170,488) 
   
 
B. ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 2019            2018 
 £ £ 
 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 795,240 755,448 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The notes form part of these financial statements  
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Charity information
  
 The Charity is controlled by its governing document, a deed of trust, and constitutes an  
 unincorporated charity registered in the UK (no. 200359) and is a public entity.  The address of the  
 registered office is Westbrook Road, Godalming, GU7 2QH.

 
b) Basis of preparing the financial statements
  
 The accounts & financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP   
 (FRS102) applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with FRS102 the Financial   
 Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland and the Charities Act 2011 and UK  
 Generally Accepted Practice as it applies from 1 January 2015.

 The accounts (financial statements) have been prepared to give a ‘true and fair’ view and have  
 departed from the Charities (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 only to the extent required  
 to provide a ‘true and fair view’. This departure has involved following the Statement of Recommended  
 Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting  
 Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) issued on 16 July 2014 rather than the  
 previous Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by Charities which was  
 effective from 1 April 2005 but which has since been withdrawn.

 The Meath Epilepsy Charity meets the definition of a public benefit entity under FRS 102. Assets and  
 liabilities are initially recognised at historical cost or transaction value unless otherwise stated in the  
 relevant accounting policy note(s).

 The financial statements of The Meath Epilepsy Charity and its subsidiary company are consolidated,  
 on a line-by-line basis, to produce the Group financial statements. The consolidated entity is referred  
 to as ‘the Group’. The charity has taken advantage of the exemptions in FRS 102 from the  
 requirements to present a charity only Cash Flow Statement and certain disclosures about the  
 charity’s financial instruments.

 Having considered the financial position of the Meath Epilepsy Charity and plans and forecasts for  
 future periods, the Trustee is satisfied that there is no material uncertainty around the ability of the  
 Charity to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. The financial statements have  
 therefore been prepared on the basis that the charity is a going concern.

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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c) Income

 All income is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities once the charity has entitlement to the  
 funds, it is probable that the income will be received, and the amount can be measured reliably. The  
 main sources of income are from local authorities for providing high levels of care and residential  
 accommodation, this is supplemented by income from social enterprises providing products &  
 services to external clients and the general public. Income from local authorities is recognised in the  
 year that care and accommodation is provided. Income from social enterprises is recognised in the  
 year that a sale occurs. Donations are recognised on receipt.

d) Expenditure

 Liabilities are recognised as expenditure as soon as there is a legal or constructive obligation  
 committing the charity to that expenditure, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will  
 be required in settlement and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is  
 accounted for on an accruals basis and has been classified under headings that aggregate all cost  
 related to the category. Where costs cannot be directly attributed to particular headings they have  
 been allocated to activities on a basis consistent with the use of resources.

e) Raising funds

 Raising funds includes all expenditure incurred by the charity to raise funds for its charitable purposes  
 and includes costs of all fundraising activities, events and non-charitable trading.

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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f) Governance costs

 This comprises the costs of compliance with constitutional and statutory requirements.

g) Taxation

 The charity is exempt from tax on its charitable activities but is registered for VAT for the social enterprises.

h) Tangible fixed assets

 Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates in order to write off each asset over its  
 estimated useful life.

 Freehold property  - 2% on cost
 Fixtures and fittings - 20% on cost
 Motor vehicles - 20% on cost

 The charity has a capitalisation threshold of £1,000, at which point all assets are capitalised.

 There are no assets under the course of construction.

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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i) Fund accounting

 Unrestricted funds can be used in accordance with the charitable objectives at the discretion of the Trustee.

 The general fund comprises unrestricted funds which are neither designated by Trustee Directors nor  
 restricted by donors.

 Restricted funds can only be used for particular restricted purposes within the objects of the charity.  
 Restrictions arise when specified by the donor or when funds are raised for particular restricted  
 purposes. There is one remaining designated fund within the Trust which form part of the  
 unrestricted funds.

j) Investment Statement

 Investments are valued at market value as at the balance sheet date. Realised and unrealised  
 gains and losses arising on the revaluation of investments are credited or charged to the Statement of  
 Financial Activities.

k) Capital Fund

 A Designated “Capital fund” has been established to account for the value of Fixed Assets which are  
 not within the Endowment Fund and thus cannot be used for the general purposes of the Charity.

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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l) Endowment Fund

 This represents the original gift to the charity of its freehold land and building in 1896. The freehold  
 property has been revalued as at 25 March 2011 using the depreciated replacement cost value at  
 £5,727,362. The value at the year ended 31 March 2019 totalled £4,831,389 (2018: £4,944,753).

m) Pension costs and other post-retirement benefits

 The charity supports a defined contribution group personal pension scheme. Contributions payable to  
 the charity’s pension scheme are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities in the period to  
 which they relate.

 These contributions are invested in an insurance company and are therefore separate from the  
 charity’s assets.
 
n) Stock

 Stock within the charity consists of donated second hand wooden furniture, the value of which is  
 considered to be minimal. On this basis, no value can be applied to items. Stock within the trading  
 subsidiary is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

o) Financial instruments

 The Meath Epilepsy Charity Trust has financial assets of a kind that qualify as basic financial  
 instruments. Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently  
 measured at the present value of future cash flows (amortised costs). No discounting has been  
 applied to these financial instruments on the basis that the periods over which amounts will be settled  
 are such that any discounting would be immaterial.

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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p) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation

 In the application of the charity’s accounting policies, which are described within the notes above, the  
 Trustee Directors are required to make judgements, estimates, assumptions about the carrying  
 values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and  
 underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to  
 be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
 estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that  
 period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects the current and  
 future periods.

 In the view of the Trustee Directors, no assumptions concerning the future or estimation uncertainty  
 affecting assets and liabilities at the balance sheet date are likely to result in a material adjustment to  
 their carrying amounts in the next financial year.

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
 
 
2. DONATIONS AND LEGACIES 
 

2019 
£ 

2018 
£ 

 All donations and Legacies  601,436 178,630 

   
 Total 601,436 178,630 
 
  
 
 

  

3. INVESTMENT INCOME   
 2019 

£ 
2018 

£ 
 Investment dividends & interest received 19,714 17,416 
 
 
4. INCOME FROM CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES 

  

 2019 
£ 

2018 
£ 

 Residential and day care services   
 Residential fees   5,416,051 5,279,770 
 Day Centre and other income   187,880   149,380  
 Filmer Grove income  17,658  17,194  
 Supported living   213,234   206,898  
   
 Total 5,834,823 5,653,242 
   
5. CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES COSTS 
 
 Charitable Activities     
 Residential Supported Social Raising Total Total 
 & Day Care Living Enterprise Funds 2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
       
 Staff costs 3,937,393 141,497  125,123  151,402 4,355,415 4,086,963 
 Other direct expenditure 904,771 18,496  2,871  83,424  1,009,562 861,767 
 Support staff costs 467,806  -   -   -  467,806   544,180  
 Support costs 276,977  -  -  13,482  290,459 373,339 
 Retail costs  -   -  181,896  181,896   523,580 
 Depreciation  416,214 -  -  - 416,214 391,457 
       
 Total for the year 
 ended 31 March 2019 

 
6,003,161 

 
159,993 

 
309,890 

 
248,308 

 
6,721,352 

 
6,781,286 

       
 31 March 2018 5,819,443 166,020 661,598 134,225 6,781,286 6,781,286 
       
 
 Included in residential and day care services is £113,364 as an expense for depreciation on the 
 endowed property (2018: £111,804). 
  

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
 
 
6. SUPPORT COSTS 2019 2018 
 Residential Care Support Costs £ £ 
 Staff costs 467,807 544,180 
 General overheads 252,017 349,139 
 Governance costs – external auditor’s remuneration 24,960 24,200 
   
              744,784 917,519 

 
7. TRUSTEE DIRECTORS REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 
 

During the year there were three key management personnel comprising the Chief Executive, Head of 
Residential Services and Finance Manager who received remuneration totalling £148,602 (2018: £289,156). 

  
No trustee received any remuneration or other benefits or reimbursement of any expenses for the year ended 
31 March 2019 nor for the year ended 31 March 2018. 
 
During the year a decision was made to carry out some staff changes and a provision was made of £38,283 
(2018:£47,725) in order to settle any relevant redundancy costs. 

 
 Employees Earning over £60,000 2019 2018 
 No. of Staff No. of Staff 
 Between £60,000 and £70,000  - - 
 Between £70,000 and £80,000 - 1 
 Between £80,000 and £90,000 1 1 
 Between £110,000 and £120,000  - - 
 
 
   
 
8. STAFF COSTS 2019 2018 
 £ £ 

 Wages and salaries  4,289,339 4,137,365 
 Social security costs 322,971 301,982 
 Other pension costs  209,029 191,796 
   
             Total 4,821,339 4,631,143 
   
 The average number of staff during the year: 
 2019 

Avg No. 
2018 

Avg No. 
 Total  186 206 

 
 
 

  

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
 
 
9. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 
 GROUP     
  Fixtures   
 Freehold and Motor  
 Property fittings vehicles Total 
 £ £ £ £ 
 Cost     
 At 1 April 2018 14,577,952 1,355,530 180,099 16,113,581 
 Additions 61,725 179,410 37890 279,025 
 Disposals - (39,060) (70,650) (109,710) 
     
 At 31 March 2019 14,639,677 1,495,880 147,339 16,282,896 
     
 Depreciation     
 At 1 April 2018 1,734,645 1,078,828 131,107 2,944,580 
 Charge for the year 288,140 108,770 19,304 424,026 
 Eliminated on disposal - (14,545) (70,650) (85,195) 
     
 At 31 March 2019 2,022,785 1,173,053 79,761 3,275,599 
     
 Net book value     
 At 31 March 2019 12,616,892 322,827 67,578 13,007,297 
     
 At 31 March 2018 12,843,307 276,702 48,992 13,169,001 
     
 

Included in cost or valuation of freehold property is freehold land of £170,869 (2018: £170,869). 
 
 
 
 
  

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
 
 
9. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (continued) 
 
 CHARITY     
  Fixtures   
 Freehold and Motor  
 Property fittings vehicles Total 
 £ £ £ £ 
 Cost     
 At 1 April 2018 14,577,952 1,327,104 180,099 16,085,155 
 Additions 61,725 168,776 37,890 268,391 
 Disposals - - (70,650) (70,650) 
     
 At 31 March 2019 14,639,677 1,495,880 147,339 16,282,896 
     
 Depreciation     
 At 1 April 2018 1,734,645 1,064,283 131,107 2,930,035 
 Charge for the year 288,140 108,770 19,304 416,214 
 Eliminated on disposal - - (70,650) (70,650) 
     
 At 31 March 2019 2,022,785 1,173,053 79,761 3,275,599 
     
 Net book value     
 At 31 March 2019 12,616,892 322,827 67,578 13,007,297 
     
 At 31 March 2018 12,843,307 262,821 48,992 13,155,120 
     
 
 Included in cost or valuation of freehold property is freehold land of £170,869 (2018: £170,869). 
 
 
10. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS  
   
 GROUP & CHARITY 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
 Listed investments 
 Market value 

  

 At 1 April 796,239 820,501 
             Additions 94,447 98,003 
             Disposals (109,048) (110,337) 
 Unrealised (loss)/gains on investments 70,569 (11,928) 
   
 At 31 March 852,207 796,239 
 
 The historical cost of listed investments is £710,601 (2018: £682,928). 
 
 The listed investments held for both years is a mixture of equities and bonds. 
  

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
 
 
10. FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 

CHARITY  
 Shares in 
 group 
 undertakings 
 £ 
Historical cost  
At 1 April 2018 1 
Additions - 
Disposals - 
Revaluations - 
  
At 31 March 2019 1 
  
Net book value  
At 31 March 2019 1 
  
At 31 March 2018 1 
  
There were no investment assets outside the UK. The Charity's investment in Group undertakings at the 
balance sheet date was in The Art House at the Meath Limited: 
 
The Arthouse at the Meath Limited – Registered Number 07148467 (England & Wales)  
Nature of business: Social enterprise for educating and helping residents of The Meath to make art, the 
commercialisation of art and selling art images. 
 
Class of shares: Ordinary - 100% Holding 

 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
 Aggregate capital and reserves  (37,960) (26,724) 
   
 Profit/(Loss) for the year (11,236) 72,358 
   

Social enterprise for educating and helping residents of The Meath to make art, the commercialisation of art 
and selling art images. 

 
 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
   

Turnover 78,952 370,097 
Cost of sales 34,388 201,163 
(Loss)/Profit on Ordinary Activities before Gift Aid and Taxation (11,236) 72,358 
(Loss)/Profit for the year (11,236) 72,358 
   
Assets 109,226 149,742 
Liabilities  (147,186) (178,466) 

   
 (37,960) (26,724) 
   
  

THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
 
 
11. DEBTORS: amounts falling due within one year 
 

              Group           Charity 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
Residents' fees 282,920 282,769 282,920 282,769 
Trade debtors - 38,600 - - 
Other debtors 304,401 37,771 207,176 37,797 
Prepayments and accrued income 86,682 98,778 86,681 92,646 
Amounts due from group undertaking - - 147,186 117,624 
     
 674,003 457,918 723,963 530,836 
     
Included within the above Other debtors balance is £97,226 (2018: £nil) due from Arthouse Unlimited that is 
due after 12 months’ time. 

 
12. CASH AT BANK 
 

At 31 March 2019, the charity held monies which are administered on behalf of residents of £149,436 (2018: 
£177,784), as well as residents’ personal monies of £56,056 (2018: £48,943) and Employment and Support 
Allowance of £16,378 (2018: £25,010). These balances have not been included in these accounts. 

 
 
13. CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 
 

                 Group             Charity 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
     
Trade creditors 150,977 152,002 150,977 135,895 
Social security and other taxes 101,573 102,558 101,573 102,558 
Deferred income 37,396 22,234 37,396  22,234 
Other creditors 44,246 69,395 44,246 38,805 
Accrued expenses 277,676 303,070 277,676 288,925 
     
 611,868 649,259 611,868 588,417 

 
 
 
 

Deferred income reconciliation:                 Group             Charity 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
     
As at 1 April 22,234 143,847 22,234 143,847 
Deferred income in the period 37,396 - 37,396 - 
Released income in the period (22,234)- (121,613) (22,234) (121,613) 
     
As at 31 March 37,396 22,234 37,396 22,234 

 
 Deferred income relates to residential fees received in advance of the period to which it relates. 
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
 
 
11. DEBTORS: amounts falling due within one year 
 

              Group           Charity 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
Residents' fees 282,920 282,769 282,920 282,769 
Trade debtors - 38,600 - - 
Other debtors 304,401 37,771 207,176 37,797 
Prepayments and accrued income 86,682 98,778 86,681 92,646 
Amounts due from group undertaking - - 147,186 117,624 
     
 674,003 457,918 723,963 530,836 
     
Included within the above Other debtors balance is £97,226 (2018: £nil) due from Arthouse Unlimited that is 
due after 12 months’ time. 

 
12. CASH AT BANK 
 

At 31 March 2019, the charity held monies which are administered on behalf of residents of £149,436 (2018: 
£177,784), as well as residents’ personal monies of £56,056 (2018: £48,943) and Employment and Support 
Allowance of £16,378 (2018: £25,010). These balances have not been included in these accounts. 

 
 
13. CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 
 

                 Group             Charity 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
     
Trade creditors 150,977 152,002 150,977 135,895 
Social security and other taxes 101,573 102,558 101,573 102,558 
Deferred income 37,396 22,234 37,396  22,234 
Other creditors 44,246 69,395 44,246 38,805 
Accrued expenses 277,676 303,070 277,676 288,925 
     
 611,868 649,259 611,868 588,417 

 
 
 
 

Deferred income reconciliation:                 Group             Charity 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
     
As at 1 April 22,234 143,847 22,234 143,847 
Deferred income in the period 37,396 - 37,396 - 
Released income in the period (22,234)- (121,613) (22,234) (121,613) 
     
As at 31 March 37,396 22,234 37,396 22,234 

 
 Deferred income relates to residential fees received in advance of the period to which it relates. 
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THE MEATH EPILEPSY CHARITY 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 

 
 
 
14. ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS 
 

GROUP      
 Unrestricted  Restricted Endowment Total Total 
 Funds Funds Funds Funds Funds 
    2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ £ 
      
Fixed assets 8,175,908 - 4,831,389 13,007,297 13,169,001 
Investments 852,207 - - 852,207 796,239 
Current assets 1,136,528 332,715 - 1,469,243 1,259,479 
Current liabilities  (611,868) - - (611,868) (649,259) 

 9,552,775 332,715 4,831,389 14,716,879 14,575,460 
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15. MOVEMENT IN FUNDS 
 

GROUP  
Total 

Funds 
2018 

 
Income 

 
Expenditure 

 
 

Transfers 

 
Gains and 

(losses) 

 
Total 

Funds 
2019 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Unrestricted funds       
General fund 1,406,459 6,263,503 (6,412,004) - 70,569 1,328,527 
       
Capital fund 8,224,248 - - - - 8,224,248 
Restricted Fund - 528,699 (195,984) - - 332,715 
       
Endowment funds 4,944,753 - (113,364) - - 4,831,389 
       

TOTAL FUNDS 14,575,460 6,792,202 (6,721,352) - 70,569 14,716,879 
 
 

      

GROUP  
Total 

Funds 
2017 

(as restated) 

 
 

Income 

 
 Expenditure 

 
 

Transfers 

 
Gains and 

losses 

 
Total 

Funds 
2018 

 £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Unrestricted funds       
General fund 9,947,128 6,364,989 (6,669,482) (8,224,248) (11,928) 1,406,459 
       
Capital fund - - - 8,224,248 - 8,224,248 

Restricted funds       
Home from Home 
Appeal 

- - - - - - 

Motor Vehicles - - - - - - 
       
Endowment funds 5,056,557 - (111,804) - - 4,944,753 
       

TOTAL FUNDS 15,003,685 6,364,989 (6,781,286) - (11,928) 14,575,460 
 

Capital Fund 
A Designated "Capital fund" has been established to account for the value of Fixed Assets which are not 
within the Endowment Fund and thus cannot be readily realised and used for the general purposes of the 
Charity. This was created via a transfer from the “General fund” in 2019. 
 

             Permanent Endowment Fund 
This represents the original gift to the charity of its freehold land and building in 1896. The freehold 
property has been revalued as at 25 March 2011 using the depreciated replacement cost value at 
£5,727,362.  
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16. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 
 Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases:  
 

GROUP Land and building Other operating leases 
 2019 2018 2019 2018 
 £ £ £ £ 
     
Within one year  24,000 50,000 83,021 16,763 
Between one and five years 99,000 205,173 49,959 20,225 
In more than five years - - - 331 
     
 123,000 255,173 132.980 37,319 
     
Total payments made in respect of lease payments during the period totalled: 

 
GROUP 2019 2018 
 £ £ 
   
Land and buildings  50,000 42,000 
Other operating leases       99,789 17,663 
   
 149,789 59,663 
   

17. PENSION COMMITMENTS 
 

During the year £182,939 was paid into the group personal pension scheme (2018: £191,796). There was 
£32,274 outstanding at the Year End (2018: £28,691). 

 
18. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

There have been no related party transactions that require disclosure other than the transactions with the subsidiary company 
and Westbrook Housing as shown below: 

 
The Arthouse at the Meath 
The Arthouse at the Meath was a related party as it is a wholly owned subsidiary limited company through which 
the residents of the charity sell artwork and merchandise. The Arthouse at the Meath demerged on the 31st May 
2018 separating from the Meath and forming an independent charity called Arthouse Unlimited (Charity No. 
1177900).   

 
At the Year End £147,186 was due to the charity (2018: £117,624). 
 
Westbrook Housing 
Two Trustee Directors of the Meath Epilepsy Charity are also Trustee Directors of Westbrook Housing. 
Westbrook Housing is a charitable company which leases property to then grant tenancies at affordable rents 
to people with disabilities, whilst facilitating their care and support through The Meath Epilepsy Charity. During 
the year one property was rented to the Meath Epilepsy Charity by Westbrook Housing. The rental costs were £nil 
(2018: £6,300, with a rolling balance of £1,800 for 2 months’ rent as a deposit in prior year). 
 
At the Year End £30,000 was due to the charity (2018: £39,013). 

 
19. ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 
 

The charity is controlled by the Trustee directors of the Meath Trustee Company. 
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20. COMPARATIVE FIGURES FOR THE STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL ACTIVTIIES FOR 

THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 
 
GROUP Unrestricted Restricted Endowment 2018 
 Funds Funds Funds Total funds 

Notes £ £ £ £ 
INCOME AND     
ENDOWMENTS FROM 2     
Donations and legacies 178,630 - - 178,630 
Charitable activities 4     
Residential and day care services 5,653,242 - - 5,653,242 
Fund raising events 41,230 - - 41,230 
Social enterprise 474,471 - - 474,471 
Investment income 3 17,416 - - 17,416 
     
Total  6,364,989 - - 6,364,989 
     
EXPENDITURE ON     
Charitable activities 5     
Residential and day care services 5,873,659 - 111,804 5,985,463 
Raising funds  5 134,225 - - 134,225 
Social enterprise 5 661,598 - - 661,598 
     
Total 6,669,482 - 111,804 6,781,286 
     
Net gains on investments  (11,928) - - (11,928) 
     
NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) (316,421) - (111,804) (428,225) 
     
Transfers between funds - - - - 
     
NET MOVEMENT IN FUNDS  (316,421) - (111,804) (428,225) 
     
RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS     
Total funds brought forward (as restated) 9,947,128 - 5,056,557 15,003,685 
     
TOTAL FUNDS CARRIED      
FORWARD 9,630,707 - 4,944,753 14,575,460 
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83 Pence
In EVERY Pound

directly benefits the 
people we support

Adds 25% to your donation Visit our Cafe and 
Furniture Workshop

Nominate us as beneficiary for 
your company’s fundraising

Volunteer

Come to our 
fundraising events

Make regular 
donations

Join the  
Meath 100

Leave a gift  
in your will

For more information about how you can support  
The Meath Epilepsy Charity please visit www.meath.org.uk

Thank you for your  
support over the past year. 
There are many ways that you can support 
the vital work of The Meath in order to help us 
continue to offer a great quality of life for the  
very special people we support.


